

This is a repository copy of Microorganisms in pathogenesis and management of vitiligo.

White Rose Research Online URL for this paper: <u>https://eprints.whiterose.ac.uk/190570/</u>

Version: Accepted Version

Book Section:

Giri, P.S., Bharti, A., Kemp, E.H. orcid.org/0000-0002-0313-8916 et al. (1 more author) (2022) Microorganisms in pathogenesis and management of vitiligo. In: Dwivedi, M.K., Amaresan, N., Kemp, E.H. and Shoenfeld, Y., (eds.) Role of Microorganisms in Pathogenesis and Management of Autoimmune Diseases : Volume I: Liver, Skin, Thyroid, Rheumatic & Myopathic Diseases. Springer Singapore , pp. 189-223. ISBN 9789811919459

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-1946-6_9

This is the accepted, pre-copyedit version of a chapter published in Role of Microorganisms in Pathogenesis and Management of Autoimmune Diseases. The final authenticated version is available online at: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-1946-6_9.

Reuse

Items deposited in White Rose Research Online are protected by copyright, with all rights reserved unless indicated otherwise. They may be downloaded and/or printed for private study, or other acts as permitted by national copyright laws. The publisher or other rights holders may allow further reproduction and re-use of the full text version. This is indicated by the licence information on the White Rose Research Online record for the item.

Takedown

If you consider content in White Rose Research Online to be in breach of UK law, please notify us by emailing eprints@whiterose.ac.uk including the URL of the record and the reason for the withdrawal request.



Microorganisms in pathogenesis and management of Vitiligo

Prashant Giri^a, Ankit Bharti^b, E. Helen Kemp^c, Mitesh Kumar Dwivedi^a*

^aC. G. Bhakta Institute of Biotechnology, Faculty of Science, UkaTarsadia University, Tarsadi-394350, Bardoli, District Surat, Gujarat, India

^bAura skin care, Laxmi Icon 2nd Floor, Unai Road, near Swaminarayan Temple, Vyara-394650, Gujarat, India

^cDepartment of Oncology and Metabolism, University of Sheffield, Sheffield, S10 2RX, United Kingdom

*Correspondence: Dr. Mitesh Kumar Dwivedi, C. G. Bhakta Institute of Biotechnology, Faculty of Science, UkaTarsadia University, Bardoli, Surat- 394350, Gujarat, India.

Email: mitesh_dwivedi@yahoo.com

ORCID: 0000-0001-8497-0765

Abstract

Vitiligo is an autoimmune skin depigmentation diseasecharacterized by CD8⁺ T cells mediated loss of function melanocytes. The role of autoimmunity in the pathogenesis of vitiligo has been well established. However, the exact triggering factors involved in vitiligo development are unclear. The healthy skin microbiome comprises of diverse microbes, including bacteria, archaea, fungi, and viruses; the microbes interact with the immune system and regulate dermatological health. However, recent evidence has suggested the involvement of microbial infections and dysbiosis in the skin microbiome with vitiligo pathogenesis. The changes in the human skin microbiome can play a major role in triggering immune response through various mechanisms such as molecular mimicry, bystander activation, cross-reactivity, epitope spreading, and production of superantigens. Moreover, maintaining the skin microbiome and probiotics-based treatment could lead to novel immune-therapeutics for vitiligo. Given the crucial role of microorganisms in vitiligo development, our chapter focuses on the role of microorganisms in vitiligo pathogenesis. Additionally, we will discuss the therapeutic potential of microorganisms in the treatment of vitiligo.

Keywords: Vitiligo, Skin microbiome, Autoimmunity, Pathogenesis, Treatment, Probiotics

Contents

- 1. Introduction
- 2. The role of autoimmunity in vitiligo pathogenesis

2.1.Oxidative stress mediated autoimmunity

- 2.2. The role innate immune response in vitiligo pathogenesis cell-mediated
- 2.3. The role of adaptive immune response in vitiligo pathogenesis
- 3. Skin microbiota and immune system
 - 3.1.Skin microecology
 - 3.2.Skin immune barrier
- 4. Role of microorganisms in pathogenesis of vitiligo
 - 4.1.Potential mechanisms by which infections trigger autoimmune vitiligo
 - 4.1.1. Molecular mimicry
 - 4.1.2. Bystander activation
 - 4.1.3. Epitope spreading
 - 4.1.4. Superantigens
 - 4.2.Dysbiosis of microbial community in lesional and non-lesional vitiligo skins.
 - 4.2.1. Bacteria
 - 4.2.2. Viruses
 - 4.2.2.1. Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2

(SARS-CoV-2) and Vitiligo

- 4.2.3. Other microbes
- 5. The role of microorganisms in management of vitiligo
 - 5.1. The role of gut microbiota in vitiligo management
 - 5.2.Role of probiotics in management of vitiligo
 - 5.3.Faecal microorganism transplantation (FMT) for treatment of vitiligo
- 6. Future directions
- 7. Conclusions

1. Introduction

Vitiligo is a skin depigmenting disease caused by autoimmune loss of functional melanocytes from the epidermal layer (Nordlund 2011). The prevalence of vitiligo ranges from 0.5 to 2% worldwide (Bergqvist and Ezzedine 2020).Vitiligo might be considered a minor disease but has serious implications as patients suffer from a lot of mental stress, embarrassment, social stigma, which affects them psychologically as it results in low self-esteem in social situations(Grimes and Miller 2018). Despite enormous research in the field, the exact etiology of vitiligo is obscure (Mohammed et al. 2015). Studies suggest that factors like genetics, physical trauma, stress, emotional imbalance, environment, oxidative stress and autoimmunity could trigger vitiligo development (Colucci et al. 2015; Manga et al. 2016; Henning et al. 2020). After the initial trigger, the autoimmune aspect of vitiligo pathogenesis has been well documented as studies suggest cytotoxic T cells mediated loss of functional melanocytes in vitiligo patients (Wu et al. 2013). Moreover, the importance of autoimmunity, oxidative stress and genetics has been backed by previous studies. These suggest the involvement of immune system-associated genes such as forkhead boxp3 (FOXP3), interferon-gamma (IFNG), interleukin 4 (IL4), proteasome 20S subunit beta 8 (PSMB8), NLR family pyrin domain containing 1 (NLRP1), neuropeptide Y (NPY), and interleukin-1-beta (IL1B), as well as increased LPO (abbrev) levels in vitiligo patients (Imran et al. 2012; Laddha et al. 2013a; Dwivedi et al. 2013c; d; Laddha et al. 2014b; Jadeja et al. 2017; Giri et al. 2021). However, despite the recent advancement, there is no definitive treatment option available for vitiligo and remission is common for the currently available therapies.

The role of microorganisms in autoimmune diseases is gaining traction as studies suggest that the human microbiome can be a major player in triggering autoimmunity (De Luca and Shoenfeld 2019). The changes in the microbial composition could lead to prolonged infection, bystander activation and molecular mimicry, triggering loss of immune tolerance against the host itself (Arango et al. 2013). Moreover, dysbiosis and reduction in the complexity of the human microbiota lead to an altered immune response in autoimmune diseases (Zheng et al. 2020), as alterations in the gut microbiota have been shown to be associated with various autoimmune disease like rheumatoid arthritis (RA), type 1 diabetes (T1D), systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE), inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) and multiple sclerosis (MS) (De Luca and Shoenfeld 2019).

Interestingly, a reduced cutaneous microbial diversity has been observed in vitiligo patients (Ganju et al. 2016). However, the exact role of microbiota in vitiligo pathogenesis and

progression is unclear as detailed studies on the microbial diversity in vitiligous skin are lacking. Therefore, the current chapter focuses on the role of microorganisms in vitiligo pathogenesis and the management of vitiligo.

2. The role of autoimmunity in vitiligo pathogenesis

Vitiligo is a complex skin depigmenting disease. Several factors including infections, genetics, stress, altered melanocyte adhesion, oxidative stress, and autoimmunity, are considered to play a part in vitiligo pathogenesis (Dwivedi et al. 2015; Rashighi and Harris 2017). Indeed, many studies suggest a role of the innate and adaptive immune responses in vitiligo pathogenesis (Laddha et al. 2013b; Richmond et al. 2013, 2019). Moreover, evidence suggests the breakdown of free radical defence may be responsible for melanocyte destruction (Jadeja et al. 2021). Here, we will discuss the role of autoimmunity and oxidative stress in vitiligo pathogenesis.

2.1. Oxidative stress mediated autoimmunity

Oxidative stress is considered as one possible theory for vitiligo aetiology. Reactive oxygen species (ROS), such as hydrogen peroxidase and peroxynitrate, have been observed in the skin of vitiligo patients (Laddha et al. 2013a; Colucci et al. 2015). Moreover, melanocytes are highly susceptible to oxidative stress as melanin production requires high energy consumption (Denat et al. 2014). In addition, the high levels of ROS generated during melanogenesis, and the low levels of antioxidant enzymes such as catalase, glutathione peroxidase, glucose 6-phosphate dehydrogenase and superoxide dismutase lead to high levels of ROS in the melanocytes of vitiligo patients (Agrawal et al. 2004; Laddha et al. 2013b). The increased ROS species accumulation leads to DNA damage, increased pro-inflammatory and anti-melanogenic cytokines production, lipid peroxidation and the loss of functionality of melanogenesis-related enzymes (Jadeja et al. 2021; Chen et al. 2021).

Oxidative stress during melanogenesis results in the accumulation of misfolded proteins in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) (Jadeja et al. 2021). Additionally, previous studies have suggested ER stress can lead to breakdown of immune tolerance by activating the unfolded protein response (UPR) (Manga et al. 2010; Jadeja et al. 2021). Several ER-related chaperons like HSP70i serve as damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) to innate immune cells when they are translocated to the cell surface or released in the extracellular space (Richmond et al.

2013). This leads to phagocytosis and antigen presentation of melanocyte-specific antigens by innate immune cells, which subsequently activate the adaptive immune response against melanocytes (Richmond et al. 2013). Additionally, increased oxidative stress in melanocytes leads to translocation of calreticulin to the melanocyte cell surface (Zhang et al. 2014), which further increases melanocyte immunogenicity.

2.2. The role of the innate immune response in vitiligo pathogenesis

The innate immune system is the first line of defence against pathogens. The pathogenassociated molecular patterns (PAMPs), DAMPs, toll-like receptors (TLRs) and pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) are essential in the activation of the immune response. Several DAMPs have been recognized in vitiligo patients (Richmond et al. 2013). Additionally, genome-wide association studies (GWAS) have identified the role of PRRs, particularly TLRs, in vitiligo susceptibility (Richmond et al. 2013). Viral infections are generally known to activate immune response as viruses possess PAMPs like RNA, DNA, and glycoproteins which could initiate the innate immune response in vitiligo (Mogensen 2009). Additionally, bacterial infections, the major PAMP producers, could direct an immune response against self-antigens in vitiligo (Mogensen 2009). Although the direct role of viruses and microbes in vitiligo pathogenesis is unknown, dysbiosis in the skin microbiome in lesional skin is linked to vitiligo pathogenesis (Ganju et al. 2016).

NLRP1 is a critical regulator of the innate immune response; it recognizes PAMPs triggering NLRP1 inflammasome formation, which activates the apoptotic and inflammatory pathways resulting in vitiligo pathogenesis (Dwivedi et al. 2013c). Additionally, previous genetic association studies have suggested the association of NLRP1 with vitiligo susceptibility (Dwivedi et al. 2013c). Moreover, overexpression of NLRP1 in immune cells of vitiligo patients could initiate melanocytes apoptosis (Dwivedi et al. 2013c). Previous studies have highlighted the role of neuropeptide-Y (NPY) in triggering the inflammatory immune response in vitiligo patients, as *NPY* exon 2 +1128 T/C, 2399 T/C and *IL1B* 2511 C/T polymorphisms correlated with increased IL-1 β levels leading to autoimmunity (Laddha et al. 2014b). The genetic association polymorphisms in the *PSMB8* gene in vitiligo patients suggest altered antigen processing could lead to T cell-mediated melanocyte destruction (Jadeja et al. 2017).

Earlier studies have shown infiltration of the critical innate immune cells like macrophages, Langerhans cells, dendritic cells (DCs), natural killer (NK) cells in the lesional skin of vitiligo patients (Boniface et al. 2021). Moreover, Fc-y receptor-expression on melanocytes and macrophage migration inhibitory factors which activate macrophages play an important role in autoimmunity in vitiligo (Farag et al. 2018). Additionally, the presence of CD11c+ dermal dendritic cells, CD207+ Langerhans cells and expression of TRAIL on dendritic cells leads to melanocytes apoptosis (Kroll et al. 2005). Interestingly recent studies have suggested increased NK cells and innate lymphoid cells (ILC1) in vitiligo patients (Tulic et al. 2019). Gene expression studies have revealed overexpression of β -defensin and CLEC2B, responsible for NK cells activation, in vitiligo patients (Yu et al. 2012). Key activation markers of NK cells like NKG2D have also been found at increased levels in those with vitiligo (Grau et al. 2018). The increased infiltration of innate immune cells in vitiligo patients leads to overproduction of key inflammatory cytokines like IL-2, IL-4, IL-6, IFN-γ, TNF-α, TNF-β and IL-1β (Gholijani et al. 2020). These cytokines activate the adaptive immune response against melanocytes. In addition, melanocytes are surrounded by keratinocytes which are capable of producing TNF-a (Laddha et al. 2012b), which leads to increased inflammation and immune responses through activation of NF-κB (Liu et al. 2017). TNF-α binds to TNFR1 and TNFR2 receptors expressed by melanocytes under stress leading to caspase-mediated melanocyte death (Camara-Lemarroy and Salas-Alanis 2013; Webb et al. 2015). TNF-α also binds to TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL) inducing apoptosis in melanocytes (Camara-Lemarroy and Salas-Alanis 2013). Furthermore, it also inhibits melanocyte proliferation by upregulating CXC-chemokine receptor II expression (Lee et al. 2013) (Lee et al., 2013). The cytokine can also inhibit melanogenesis by suppressing the expression of tyrosinase and tyrosinase-related protein 1 (Englaro et al. 1999; Singh et al. 2021). TNF- α and IFN- γ can increase T cell-mediated cytotoxicity of melanocytes by increasing adhesion molecules like intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1) (Laddha et al. 2012b; Singh et al. 2021). Interestingly, ICAM-1, TNF-α and IFN-y expression is increased in vitiligo patients (Laddha et al. 2012b).

Overall, the previous evidence suggests that the DAMPs act as ligands for PRR, which results in the activation of innate immune response in vitiligo patients. The activated innate immune response leads to overproduction of inflammatory cytokines and eventually leads to activation of the adaptive immune response resulting in melanocytes destruction.

2.3. The role of the adaptive immune response in vitiligo pathogenesis

The role of the adaptive immune response has been well established in vitiligo as studies suggest cytotoxic T cells mediated destruction of melanocytes in vitiligo patients (Laddha et

al. 2014a; Dwivedi et al. 2015). The presence of melanocyte-specific CD8⁺, CD4⁺, CD8⁺ TRM cells and melanocytes specific autoantibodies further confirms the crucial role of the adaptive immune response in vitiligo pathogenesis (Waterman et al. 2002; Lambe et al. 2006; You et al. 2013; Shah et al. 2021).

The role of T cells in vitiligo pathogenesis has been widely studied (Dwivedi et al. 2015; Giri et al. 2020b). Studies have found infiltration of CD8+ and CD4+ T cells in the skin of vitiligo patients (Waterman et al. 2002; Lambe et al. 2006; You et al. 2013; Shah et al. 2021). Additionally, the infiltrated T cells are melanocyte-specific as they recognize the key melanocytes antigens MART-1, PMEL and tyrosinase (Hoashi et al. 2005; Le Poole and Luiten 2008). Furthermore, they express skin homing markers (Ogg et al. 1998). The T cells present in the skin of vitiligo patients are activated, and the overexpression of granzyme B and perforin by these cytotoxic T cells suggests that there is T cell-mediated destruction of melanocytes in vitiligo patients (Riding and Harris 2019). An interesting recent study indicates that CD8⁺ T cells recognize melanocytes via natural killer group 2D (NKG2D), an activating receptor expressed by killer lymphocytes (Plaza-Rojas and Guevara-Patiño 2021). Under stress, melanocytes express NKG2DL leading to CD8+ T cells killing (Plaza-Rojas and Guevara-Patiño 2021).

Tissue-resident memory T cells (TRM) have been shown to express increased NKG2D levels leading to the overproduction of IFN- γ and TNF- α (Grau et al. 2018). Our recent study has highlighted the role of TRM cells in vitiligo pathogenesis (Shah et al. 2021). CD8⁺ TRM cells suppress melanocytes, preventing repigmentation and are thought to inhibit regulatory T cells (Tregs) (Frączek et al. 2020). Elevated T helper 17 (Th17) cells have been found in the lesional skin of vitiligo patients (Wang et al. 2011). Moreover, the FAS-FASL-dependent destruction of melanocytes by autoreactive CD4⁺ T cells highlights the role of CD4₊ T cells in vitiligo pathogenesis (Lambe et al. 2006). Th17 cells suppress melanocytes function and activity by downregulating melanin production (Kotobuki et al. 2012), and also induce the production of key inflammatory cytokines IFN- γ , TNF- α , TNF- β and IL-1 β by keratinocytes and fibroblasts. This can lead to caspase-mediated apoptosis of melanocytes (Kany et al. 2019).

In contrast to the widely reported T cells-mediated melanocytes destruction, the role of B cells in vitiligo pathogenesis is unclear. However, B cell circulation has been found to be increased in vitiligo patients (Willemsen et al. 2021). Differentiation of antibody-secreting B cells and production of melanocyte-specific autoantibodies by B cells have been shown to be increased

in vitiligo patients (Willemsen et al. 2021). Melanocyte-specific autoantibodies have been linked with disease activity as well (Willemsen et al. 2021). Previous reports have found increased autoantibodies against PMEL17, melanoma antigen recognized by T-cells (MART1), tyrosine hydroxylase (TH), tyrosine-related protein-2 (TRP2), tyrosinase-related protein-1 (TRP1), tyrosinase, melanin-concentrating hormone receptor-1 (MCHR1), melanocortin 1 receptor (MC1R), VIT75, VIT90 VIT40, HSP70, HSP90, Rab38, and translation-initiation factor 2 (Kemp et al. 1998; Palermo et al. 2001; Waterman et al. 2002; Gavalas et al. 2009; Li et al. 2011; Willemsen et al. 2021). These autoantibodies can direct complement-mediated damage and antibody-dependent cellular toxicity (Schmitz et al. 1995). Furthermore, they can increase ICAM-1 mediated melanocyte apoptosis and also increase antigen presentation of melanocytes (Laddha et al. 2012b).

Tregs maintain peripheral tolerance by controlling aberrant autoimmune responses by selfreactive T cells (Giri et al. 2021). However, flow cytometric analyses have found reduced Tregs in vitiligo patients (Dwivedi et al. 2013b). Our previous study has suggested an imbalance in CD8⁺ T cells and Tregs as the CD8/CD4 T cell ratio was found to be reduced in vitiligo patients (Dwivedi et al. 2013b). Interestingly, the decreased Tregs were more prominent in active vitiligo patients (Tembhre et al. 2013). Apart from defects in Treg frequency, earlier studies have also found decreased Treg suppressive function in vitiligo patients (Giri et al. 2020b). Our recent studies have suggested the reduced NFATs and FOXP3 levels, both key Treg transcription factors, lead to reduced downstream immune regulatory genes, thereby leading to decreased Treg mediated suppression of CD8⁺ and CD4⁺ T cells (Giri et al. 2020a; b, 2021). In addition, the role of NFAT signalling pathways as calcium-controlled activation of NFATc1 enhanced Treg suppressive function in vitiligo patients (Dwivedi, unpublished data). Studies have also explored the role of Treg cells in vitiligo treatment as emerging studies have suggested that adoptive Treg transfer prevents progressive depigmentation in the H3TA2 vitiligo mice model and can be employed for vitiligo treatment (Chatterjee et al. 2014; Eby et al. 2014). Recently, antigen-specific (GD3) CAR Tregs have been shown to reduce autoimmune reactions and thereby contribute to decreased depigmentation in vitiligo mouse model (Mukhatayev et al. 2020). A recent study provided new insights in Treg function suggesting that the expression of CCR5 on Tregs is necessary for Treg function and vitiligo control in vivo (Gellatly et al. 2021). We have also proposed the role of probiotics and prebiotics in Treg-mediated therapeutics of generalised vitiligo (Dwivedi et al. 2016).

Overall, the studies suggest multiple triggering factors like infections, genetics, stress, altered melanocyte adhesion, oxidative stress, and autoimmunity can lead to innate immune system activation, which results in a widespread activation of CD4⁺ T cells, CD8⁺ T cells and B cells. Moreover, the altered Treg cells number and suppressive function lead to unchecked proliferation of CD4⁺ T cells and CD8⁺ T cells, which results in melanocytes destruction leading to vitiligo pathogenesis (Figure 1).

3. Skin microbiota and immune system

The trillions of bacteria living inside the gut are understood to be important for maintaining immune homeostasis(Khan and Wang 2020). However, there is another microbiome called the skin microbiome which is gaining attention recently. The skin microbiome consists of diverse bacteria, archea, fungi, viruses and eucaryotes, which interact with the immune system and regulate dermatological health (Byrd et al. 2018). The skin microbiota, epithelial cells and immune cells communicate with each other to maintain skin homeostasis and eliminate possible pathogens (Byrd et al. 2018).

3.1. Skin microecology

Although the skin is a harsh, dry, nutrient-poor environment, it consists of diverse microbial compositions as the healthy adult skin is found to be abundant with bacteria, fungi, and viruses(Byrd et al. 2018). The microbial community present in the skin helps create an environment that is the first line of defence against microbial pathogens. Microbes such as Staphylococcus epidermidis and Cutibacterium reside in the skin and communicate with the host cells to produce anti-microbial peptides which protect the host from bacterial infections(Cogen et al. 2008). Cutibacteria acnes produce an acidic environment that becomes inhospitable invading Grice pathogens (Flowers and 2020). to Additionally, S epidermidis produces chemicals that suppress inflammation and thereby help in producing tight junction between the skin cells, which protect from invading infections (Cogen et al. 2008).

Firmicutes, Proteobacteria, Actinobacteria and *Bacteroidetes* are found to be in most abundance in the skin microenvironment (Grice and Segre 2011). However, the bacteria composition in the skin microenvironment mostly dependents on the physiology of the skin site i.e, the *Propionibacterium* species are dominant in the sebaceous sites (McLaughlin et al.

2019). In contrast, *Staphylococcus* and *Corynebacterium* are present in the moist sites (Byrd et al. 2018). Fungal communities are found throughout the body; however specifically, *Malassezia* is dominant in the moist areas, whereas *Aspergillus, Epicoccum, Cryptococcus* are found in the foot area (Saunders et al. 2012; Byrd et al. 2018). Other than bacteria and fungi, viruses have been found to colonize the skin microbiome, as suggested by the presence of human papillomavirus (Foulongne et al. 2012). DNA viruses have been found to be present on the skin surface (Foulongne et al. 2012). The presence of eukaryotes like Demodex mites in the sebaceous sites suggests the involvement of arthropods in the skin microbiome (Grice and Segre 2011).

Shortly after birth, the commensal bacteria induce Tregs to tolerate commensal microbes (Zheng et al. 2020). The delicate balance in the skin microbiome is essential for maintaining dermatological health, but it can sometimes falter and dysbiosis can lead to dermatological conditions such as acne, atopic dermatitis, psoriasis, and vitiligo (De Pessemier et al. 2021). Some strains of *C. acnes* can produce pro-inflammatory molecules that are associated with sores and acnes (Mayslich et al. 2021). *S. epidermidis* can cause opportunistic infections (Otto 2009). The dysregulated immune response can also cause chronic disorders like vitiligo, psoriasis and atopic dermatitis (AD). The presence of bacterial species like *Firmicutes, Propionibacterium, Actinobacteria, Staphylococcus* can cause acute lesions in the skin (Grice and Segre 2011).

Antimicrobial peptides released by bacterial infection can activate DCs (Diamond et al. 2009). These, in turn, promote T cells differentiation which can be observed by the accumulation of T cells and DCs in psoriatic lesions (Cai et al. 2012). The CD4⁺ T cells then produce IL-17 and IFN- γ , which stimulates the proliferation of keratinocytes leading to thickening of the epidermis (Cai et al. 2012). Thus, the cross-talk between microbial infection, keratinocytes, and immune cells lead to tissue remodelling and amplification of the dysregulated immune response.

S. aureus has been found to be linked with various skin diseases as it has the ability to modulate the immune response (Otto 2014). The δ -toxin released by *S. aureus* results in mast cell degranulation (Nakamura et al. 2013). *S. aureus* α -toxin also promotes the production of IL-1 β by monocytes which leads to activation of the Th17 response (Niebuhr et al. 2011; Bonifacius et al. 2020). In addition, *S. aureus* has been found in the skin of AD patients, suggesting it can lead to epidermal impairment and immune cell-activation resulting in AD (Kim et al. 2019). A decline in microbiome diversity has been observed in vitiligo (Ganju et al. 2016). Interestingly, recent studies have shown that probiotic treatments can restore the balance of the skin microbiome (Paetzold et al. 2019). Therefore, understanding the complex interactions between the skin microbiome and the immune system may lead to novel therapeutic strategies to combat skin-related diseases.

3.2. Skin immune barrier

The skin is the body's primary barrier against physical insults and microbial pathogens (Nguyen and Soulika 2019). It represents a unique environment in which skin cells interact with immune cells to provide tissue homeostasis and induce immune responses (Nguyen and Soulika 2019). The skin is composed of the epidermis, dermis and a subcutaneous fatty region (Yousef et al. 2021). The epidermis is composed of highly specialized epithelial cells known as keratinocytes (Yousef et al. 2021). They are continuously replenished from the layer of basal keratinocytes, which divide frequently (Yousef et al. 2021). Dead cells called corneocytes are located in the outermost layer and are largely responsible for the barrier function in the skin (Yousef et al. 2021). Melanocytes are located in the basal layer of the epidermis, and they are oval, fusiform DCs (Cichorek et al. 2013). They are identifiable by the expression of tyrosinase, tyrosine-related protein-1 and -2, PMEL17, and MART-1 (Cichorek et al. 2013). They are surrounded by keratinocytes at a ratio of about 1: 10 (Cichorek et al. 2013). In the dermis, cells known as fibroblasts secrete elastin and collagen fibres that form a dense extracellular matrix (Tracy et al. 2016). Blood capillaries irrigate the dermis while lymph fluid is drained thorough lymphatic vessels to lymph nodes, specialized immune system in which immune cells are activated after pathogen encounter (Alberts et al. 2002). Here, diverse and functionally specialized immune cells populate the skin (Alberts et al. 2002).

The commensal bacteria, viruses and fungi living on the skin have beneficial effects in protection against pathogens and wound healing (Byrd et al. 2018). In the epidermis, specialized subsets of DCs called Langerhans cells detect antigens; they project dendrites upwards towards the cornified epithelial cells and sample bacteria antigens like toxins (Romani et al. 2010). Langerhans cells appear to be both anti-inflammatory and activators of immune response depending on their context (Clayton et al. 2017). DCs in the dermis are highly efficient at capturing dead cells and presenting antigens such as viruses, other intracellular pathogens, and skin-associated self-antigens to T cells; thus, DCs are thought to be immune sentinels, whereas the T cells are the immune effector cells (Stockwin et al. 2000).

Healthy skin cells contain twice the number of T cells compared to blood; most of them are memory T cells that have previously encountered antigens(Koguchi-Yoshioka et al. 2021). CD8⁺ T cells, a subset that becomes cytotoxic and kills target cells upon activation, whereas CD4⁺ T cells which has a modulatory role in the immune response(Koguchi-Yoshioka et al. 2021). A variety of other cells such as NK cells, mast cells, eosinophils are present in the dermis(Portales-Cervantes et al. 2019). DCs and keratinocytes sense tissue damage such as wound or cold sore lesions through PAMPs or host-derived molecules such as DNA. Keratinocytes produce antimicrobial peptides which kill bacteria directly, inflammatory mediators such as IL-1, which activate DCs and chemokines, which recruit macrophages, neutrophils and T cells (Nestle et al. 2009; Nguyen and Soulika 2019). Activated DCs migrate to the lymph nodes where they present antigen to naïve T cells priming them to activate and differentiate into effector T cells. Effector T cells migrate to the skin, where they kill infected keratinocytes, viral infections and also secrete other cytokines that recruit other immune cells(Charles A Janeway et al. 2001; Nestle et al. 2009; Nguyen and Soulika 2019). Following clearance, Tregs control the immune response, whereas memory T cells persist in the skin to provide protection against subsequent infection with the same pathogen(Charles A Janeway et al. 2001; Nestle et al. 2009; Nguyen and Soulika 2019).

Immune responses can become deregulated and cause skin disorders such as vitiligo, psoriasis, and AD (Campione et al. 2020). Vitiligo is a skin depigmenting disease characterized by white patches due to the autoimmune loss of functional melanocytes (Dwivedi et al. 2013a). Multiple factors such as bacteria or viral infections, genetic makeup, environment, oxidative stress, and physical stress can confer susceptibility to vitiligo (Laddha et al. 2013b). Stressed melanocytes, physical injury, infections can lead to recognition of melanocytes by DCs (Bergqvist and Ezzedine 2020). Together with IL-1, TNF- α and IFN- γ secreted by keratinocytes and DCs, T cells become activated (Wang et al. 2011; Bergqvist and Ezzedine 2020; Giri, P. S., Dwivedi 2021). Activated CD4⁺ T cells then activate cytotoxic CD8⁺ T cells; the CD8⁺ infiltrate the epidermis and perform their cytotoxic function leading to melanocyte death (Frisoli et al. 2020; Katz and Harris 2021). T cells and keratinocytes produce a high amount of TNF- α and IFN- γ cytokines, which increases T cells mediated cytotoxicity towards melanocytes (Laddha et al. 2012a; Dwivedi et al. 2013d). Tregs in vitiligo patients are low in number (Dwivedi et al. 2015; Tembhre et al. 2015). They are also non-functional, leading to an aberrant autoimmune responses (Lili et al. 2012; Giri et al. 2020b). Additionally, T cells reside in the skin lesions and become resident memory T cells (TRM), where they block skin repigmentation by killing melanocytes (Frączek et al. 2020). Thus, immune cells in the skin exert important barrier functions (Koguchi-Yoshioka et al. 2021). However, dysbiosis in the skin microbiome can lead to a deregulated immune response against self-antigens that could cause autoimmunity (Figure 1) (Murphree 2017; Byrd et al. 2018; Nguyen and Soulika 2019).

4. Role of microorganisms in pathogenesis of vitiligo

Vitiligo is progressive skin depigmenting disease, which is characterized by melanocytes destruction mediated by self-reactive cytotoxic T cells (Bergqvist and Ezzedine 2020). Although the triggering factors for vitiligo development are unclear, multiple factors such as genetics, oxidative stress, emotional and hormonal imbalance, infections may be involved in vitiligo development (Bergqvist and Ezzedine 2020). The role of cutaneous bacteria in the development of skin diseases has been suggested, as *Propionibacterium acnes* causes acne, and *S. aureus* leads to psoriasis and AD development (Francuzik et al. 2018; Chang et al. 2018). Although microbial diversity helps in maintaining immune homeostasis, a breach in skin integrity can lead to various skin-related disorders (Murphree 2017). Interestingly, the depigmented skin lesions of vitiligo patients have been shown to have reduced microbial diversity, suggesting the crucial role of microorganisms in vitiligo pathogenesis (Ganju et al. 2016; Bzioueche et al. 2020).

4.1. Potential mechanisms by which infections trigger autoimmune vitiligo

The role of microorganisms in the development of autoimmunity has been evident as previous studies have shown the participation of infections in triggering autoimmunity (Arango et al. 2013). Vitiligo is a multifactorial disease as environmental factors; epigenetics, genetics and stress can lead to vitiligo development (Dwivedi et al. 2015; Bergqvist and Ezzedine 2020). However, not all individuals who are exposed to all the factors develop vitiligo, which suggests that other factors such as the skin microbiome may synergistically act with other factors leading to vitiligo development (Ganju et al. 2016; Bzioueche et al. 2020). Therefore, a dysbiosis in the skin microbiome may lead to skin depigmentation.

4.1.1. Molecular mimicry: There are multiple factors through which microorganisms can trigger autoimmune vitiligo, one of which is molecular mimicry (Arango et al. 2013). The term molecular mimicry suggests that infections agents can present antigens similar to host self-antigens(Arango et al. 2013). Thus, molecular mimicry

can lead to cross-reaction, which can activate self-reactive T and B cells resulting in an autoimmune response(Arango et al. 2013). Experimental evidence suggests microorganism's *Helicobacter pylori*, *Campylobacter jejuni*, and viruses such as Herpes simplex virus, Epstein bar virus and cytomegalovirus can trigger various autoimmune diseases through molecular mimicry (Moran and Prendergast 2001; Smatti et al. 2019). Previous studies have suggested the role of *Helicobacter pylori*, Epstein bar virus, cytomegalovirus in the development of vitiligo (Doğan et al. 2014; Dwivedi et al. 2018). Although molecular mimicry is a potential mechanism by which microorganisms can trigger the development of autoimmunity, it alone is not sufficient to develop autoimmunity.

- 4.1.2. Bystander activation: The other crucial mechanism is bystander activation (Arango et al. 2013). The inflammatory response against pathogens can lead to the activation of T and B cells with different specificity (Arango et al. 2013). The nonantigenic activation can lead to an autoimmune response (Pacheco et al. 2019). The activation is triggered by different pathways such as inflammatory response, cytokines, chemokines and PAMPs. Viruses such as Epstein bar virus, cytomegalovirus, and influenza, and bacteria such as Legionella pneumophila, Listeria *monocytogenes*, and microbial lipopolysaccharides have been demonstrated to trigger bystander activation of self-reactive T cells, B cells, NK cells and DCs in autoimmune diseases (Fujinami et al. 2006; Arango et al. 2013; Jung et al. 2017; Dwivedi et al. 2018; Pacheco et al. 2019). Epstein bar virus, cytomegalovirus, influenza, Chlamydia *trachomatis* and microbial lipopolysaccharides have been associated with vitiligo development (Dwivedi et al. 2018) suggesting bystander activation may be involved in its development.
- 4.1.3. Epitope spreading: The third mechanism is epitope spreading, in which autoimmune response is generated through spatial proximity and similarities between microbial epitopes and self-epitopes (Arango et al. 2013). The importance of epitope spreading is evident by the *Mycobacterium leprae* infection. The *M. leprae*, the causative agent for leprosy, has a predilection for peripheral nerves such as Schwann cells (Dupin et al. 2003; Oyarbide-Valencia et al. 2006), which are closely related to melanocytes (Dupin et al. 2003; Oyarbide-Valencia et al. 2006). Therefore, *M. leprae* infection can cause cross-reactivity or epitope spreading against melanocytes (Dupin et al. 2003; Oyarbide-Valencia et al. 2006) and suggests the importance of cross-reactivity and epitope spreading as an important

triggering factor for autoimmune vitiligo development (Dupin et al. 2003; Oyarbide-Valencia et al. 2006). Moreover, it also explains the similarities between lesions of leprosy and autoimmune vitiligo.

4.1.4. **Superantigens:** Bacterial and viral proteins can develop superantigens which can activate multiple T cells, and B cells, which are similar to epitope spreading, can lead to activation of self-reactive T and B cells resulting in autoimmune vitiligo (Acha-Orbea 1993). The persistence of infections like hepatitis C virus, hepatitis B virus, and HIV in vitiligo patients may trigger autoimmunity as a result of constant activation of the immune response (Dwivedi et al. 2018). Therefore, microbial infection through various mechanisms such as molecular mimicry, bystander activation, epitope spreading, superantigens, and constant aviation of immune response can trigger autoimmune vitiligo (Figure 1).

4.2. Dysbiosis of microbial community in lesional and non-lesional vitiligo skins.

Vitiligo is considered an autoimmune skin disease. However, the role of microorganisms has been recently explored in the triggering of the autoimmune response in vitiligo (Ganju et al. 2016; Bzioueche et al. 2020). Although it would be naïve to suggest that the skin microbiome is the sole cause of autoimmune vitiligo as there are multiple factors that can trigger vitiligo development(Bergqvist and Ezzedine 2020). Healthy skin consists of a wide range of microbes forming the skin microbiome, which is crucial for maintaining the immune homeostasis in the skin (Grice and Segre 2011; Byrd et al. 2018). The importance of the skin microbiome has been established as dysbiosis in the skin microbiome associated with various skin-related disorders, including vitiligo (Ganju et al. 2016; Murphree 2017; Byrd et al. 2018; Nguyen and Soulika 2019; Bzioueche et al. 2020). Apart from this, dysbiosis in the gut microbiome can also lead to variation in the skin microbiome leading to vitiligo pathogenesis(Ganju et al. 2016; Bzioueche et al. 2020). Overall, the studies emphasize the importance of skin microbiome in vitiligo pathogenesis (Table 1).

4.2.1. Bacteria

The current understanding suggests a complex interplay between environment, genetics, epigenetics, infections and stress triggers the development of autoimmune vitiligo (Laddha et

al. 2013b; Bergqvist and Ezzedine 2020). A previous study indicated a decrease in the microbial diversity in the lesional skin was associated with vitiligo development (Ganju et al. 2016). The study found that bacterial genera like Methylobacterium were exclusive to the lesional al. 2016). skin (Ganju et whereas Anaerococcus. *Microbacterium*, Streptophyta and Nocardiodes were found only in the non-lessional skin (Ganju et al. 2016). The metagenomics study suggested that the operation taxonomic units (OTUs) belonging to Enhydrobacter, Paracoccus, Streptococcus and Staphylococcus were only found in the lesional skin (Ganju et al. 2016). Additionally, the **OTUs** belonging to Janibacter and Brevundimonas were exclusive to the non-lesional skin samples (Ganju et al. 2016). Approximately 39 taxa were found to be different between the lesional and non-lesional skin; specifically, Skermanella, Novosphingobium, Roseomonas, Cellvibrio, Turicibacter, *Erysipelotrichaceae* and *Erysipelotrichales* (Ganju et al. 2016). Taxa belonging to Actinobacteria and Proteobacterial lineage were more abundant in non-lesional skin whereas, Firmicutes were predominant in the lesional skin (Ganju et al. 2016). Overall, the decrease in microbial diversity in the lesional skin could hamper the protective skin barrier, aggravating the disease (Figure 1).

Ganju and colleagues have extensively studied microbial diversity; however, the mechanisms leading to vitiligo development was not explored (Ganju et al. 2016). The possible mechanisms may be explained as in psoriasis, a disease similar to vitiligo. In the case of psoriasis, the *Streptococcus* and *Staphylococcus* bacteria generate superantigens that could activate a wide variety of T cells, including melanocyte-specific self-reactive T cells (Atefi et al. 2014). Furthermore, the antigens produced by the bacteria through molecular mimicry enhance DCand keratinocyte-mediated inflammation (Lowes et al. 2014). The superantigens increase T helper cell-mediated IFN- γ production (Leung et al. 1995; Lowes et al. 2014). In vitiligo, it has been observed that there is increased IFN- γ resulting in increased adhesion molecule ICAM-1 expression on melanocytes which subsequently increases T cell-mediated melanocyte cytotoxicity (Dwivedi et al. 2013d). IFN- γ also inhibits melanogenesis in vitiligo (Cai et al. 2019). Therefore, as reported in psoriasis the increased inflammation, T cells activation and IFN- γ production by bacterial species can lead to melanocyte destruction.

Interestingly a previous study suggested that antibiotic treatment alters skin and gut microbiome resulting in vitiligo development (Dellacecca et al. 2020). Specifically, the antibiotic treatment resulted in a marked decrease in *Alkaliphilus, Dysgonomonas,*

Odoribacter, Oscillospira, Pedobacter, Parabacteroides and *Ruminococus* (Dellacecca et al. 2020) in contrast to *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and *Bacteroides vulgatus* that resided in the skin after antibiotic treatment (Dellacecca et al. 2020). The study found that the reduced microbial diversity resulted in increased B cell and T cell activity resulting in melanocyte destruction (Dellacecca et al. 2020).

Other studies have suggested decrease in *Cutibacterium*, Proteobacterium, а Gammabacterium, Acintobacter and Paracocus in vitiligo lessional skin (Bzioueche et al. 2020). Apart from the skin microbiome, the above study also suggested dysbiosis of the gut microbiota as gut microbial α -diversity lowered in vitiligo patients, whereas the firmicutes and Bacteroidetes fraction increased in the gut (Ni et al. 2020). Bifidobacterium was depleted in lesional skin whereas Enterococcus, Mycoplasma, Veillonella, Intestinibacter, Bacteroides, Escherichia-Shigella, Parabacteroides, Bifidobacterium, and Streptococcus were found to be increased in non-lesional skin (Bzioueche et al. 2020). The study carried out an in-depth analysis to investigate the correlation between the altered skin microbiome and immune response (Bzioueche et al. 2020). It found that the microbiome changes in the skin activated the innate immune response, as the DAMPs or PAMPs generated by the microbial species led to increased secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IFN- γ , and chemokines such as CXCL9, CXCL10 and CXCL16 (Bzioueche et al. 2020). These cytokines then led to activation and trafficking of CD8+ T cells to the vitiligo lesions (Bzioueche et al. 2020). IFN- γ also inhibits melanogenesis and increases ICAM-1 expression on melanocytes, resulting in CD8+ T cell-mediated destruction of melanocytes (Figure 1)(Table 1) (Dwivedi et al. 2013d).

4.2.2. Viruses

Viruses such as cytomegalovirus and Epstein bar virus have been found in the epidermis of vitiligo patients (Grimes et al. 1996). Additionally, HSV has been found to be associated with segmental vitiligo (Dwivedi et al. 2018). HIV infection has also been associated with vitiligo (Antony and Marsden 2003). Other skin-related disorders such as psoriasis and alopecia areata have been associated with viral infections (Gaurkar et al. 2014). Viral infections such as HCV, HBV, HSV have been associated with vitiligo (Dwivedi et al. 2018).

The possible mechanism by which viruses are involved in vitiligo pathogenesis is, however unclear. In the case of HIV, as it infects and decreases the $CD4^+$ T cells count, the infection could increase $CD8^+/CD4^+$ T cell ratio (Dwivedi et al. 2018), which has already been associated

with vitiligo. This increased CD8+ T cell number could lead to melanocyte destruction (Dwivedi et al. 2013b). Viral infections such as Herpes simplex virus, Epstein bar virus, cytomegalovirus through molecular mimicry and bystander activation can activate the innate immune response (Arango et al. 2013), which could then result in T cell- and B cell-mediated vitiligo pathogenesis (Table 1).

Persistent chronic viral infections like HIV, HCV, HBV, HSV have the ability to develop autoimmune vitiligo by constant activation of the immune response (Table 1) (Arango et al. 2013; Smatti et al. 2019). The constant activation may lead to an immune response against self-antigens resulting in melanocyte destruction (Table 1). The viral infection could also enhance the already present oxidative stress in the susceptible patients (Ivanov et al. 2016), which could then trigger autoimmune reactions (Table 1).

4.2.2.1. Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) and vitiligo

Emerging studies have suggested that coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) caused by SARS-CoV-2 might contribute to various inflammatory and autoimmune diseases (Galeotti and Bayry 2020; McMillan et al. 2021; Liu et al. 2021). The studies suggest that COVID-19 patients develop various autoimmune conditions like Guillain-Barre syndrome, SLE, Kawasaki disease, autoimmune haemolytic anaemia and idiopathic thrombocytopenic purpura (Galeotti and Bayry 2020; McMillan et al. 2021). The virus may trigger the autoimmune response through molecular mimicry, bystander activation and cross-reactivity (Galeotti and Bayry 2020; McMillan et al. 2021). A previous study suggested that autoimmune reactions may be triggered against the ACE II receptor (McMillan et al. 2021). Studies have also found that patients develop a range of autoantibodies post COVID-19 (McMillan et al. 2021; Chang et al. 2021).

Although COVID-19 infection has been linked with autoimmune diseases (Galeotti and Bayry 2020; McMillan et al. 2021; Liu et al. 2021), studies assessing the casual link between COVID-19 and vitiligo are scarce. Studies have only focused on the impact of vitiligo and its treatment on COVID-19 progression (Sarkar and Nayak 2020; Xu et al. 2021; Post et al. 2021). The mechanistic aspect assessing if COVID-19 can trigger autoimmune vitiligo is lacking. Nevertheless, studies have suggested that severe COVID-19 is linked with increased levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines like IL-10, TNF- α , IFN- γ and IL-2 (Del Valle et al. 2020; Pérez-Cabezas et al. 2021), and earlier studies have reported the involvement of increased TNF- α ,

IFN- γ in vitiligo pathogenesis (Laddha et al. 2012b; Dwivedi et al. 2013d; Singh et al. 2021). TNF- α and IFN- γ enhance the expression of ICAM-1 on melanocytes, contributing to their T cell-mediated destruction (Laddha et al. 2012b; Dwivedi et al. 2013d; Singh et al. 2021). Furthermore, IFN- γ inhibits melanin biosynthesis contributing to vitiligo development (Cai et al. 2019). Overall, it may be speculated that COVID-19 symptoms, treatments and medications through molecular mimicry, bystander activation and cross-reactivity might contribute to autoimmune vitiligo. Stress caused to vitiligo patients due to COVID-19 symptoms, treatments and medications must explore the relationship between COVID-19 and autoimmune vitiligo development.

4.2.3. Other microbes

Tinea corporis, a superficial fungal infection caused by various dermatophytes species like *Epidermophyton, Trichophyton* and *Microsporon*, has been shown to be associated with vitiligo (Parimalam et al. 2015; Rao 2015). Although the incidence of *Tinea corporis* in vitiligo is very rare, cases with dermatophyte infection encircling vitiligo have been reported (Parimalam et al. 2015; Rao 2015). The exact mechanisms for the association of dermatophyte infection and vitiligo are unclear. However, it may be that activated Langerhans cells during the dermatophyte infection could trigger a melanocyte-specific T cell response (Arango et al. 2013; Parimalam et al. 2015; Rao 2015). Apart from this, intestinal parasites such as Ascaris lumbricoides and tapeworm have also been shown to be associated with vitiligo (Mohd et al. 2019). To date, the role of fungal and parasitic species in vitiligo is unknown (Mohd et al. 2019).

5. The role of microorganisms in the management of vitiligo

5.1. The role of gut microbiota in vitiligo management

The gut microbiome comprises trillions of bacteria, fungi, and viruses (Khan and Wang 2020). Diversity is important for a healthy gut and dysbiosis in the gut microbiome is linked with several autoimmune diseases, including vitiligo (Ganju et al. 2016; Pittayanon et al. 2019). It is interesting to note that the gut microbiome, despite being away from the skin, has an influence on vitiligo development(Ni et al. 2020). Depending on the composition of the gut microbiome, it can induce pro-inflammatory or anti-inflammatory responses (Wu and Wu 2012). However, the detailed mechanism by which the gut microbiome exerts such distinct

responses is unknown (Vieira et al. 2014). Therefore, it is necessary to study the role of the gut microbiome in the autoimmune development of vitiligo as this may serve as a potent target for the treatment.

The mechanisms by which gut microbiota exert a disease protective role in unclear. Studies suggest it plays a crucial role in maintaining the intestinal epithelial barrier and forming a mucosal immune system against pathogens (Chelakkot et al. 2018). The healthy gut comprises the intact epithelial intestinal barrier, which reduces the translocation of bacteria via the mucosa (de Oliveira et al. 2017; Paetzold et al. 2019). Dysbiosis in the gut microbiota may lead to an altered intestinal barrier leading to the inflammatory response (Chelakkot et al. 2018). The condition has been particularly well documented as leaky gut hypothesis where the alteration in the gut barrier leads to translocation of lymphocytes from the gut to the liver resulting in autoimmune reaction in the liver (Mu et al. 2017a). Dysbiosis in the gut microbiome has been observed in various autoimmune diseases like IBD, irritable bowel syndrome (IBS), T1D, MS, SLE and vitiligo (Ganju et al. 2016; Mu et al. 2017a; Pittayanon et al. 2019). Therefore, it suggests that maintaining the intestinal barrier through the gut microbiota may serve as a potent therapeutic target for autoimmune diseases like vitiligo (Figure 2) (Table 2).

The gut microbiota produces metabolites that have an important role in reducing inflammation. Short-chain fatty acids (SCFAs) produced by the gut microbiome reduce inflammatory cell migration, adhesion and proliferation (Parada Venegas et al. 2019). It also reduces the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines (Parada Venegas et al. 2019). SCFAs also inhibit the critical inflammatory NK-kB pathway (Parada Venegas et al. 2019). The gut microbiota and skin microbiota-derived tryptophan has been shown to attenuate inflammation in atopic dermatitis patients (Yu et al. 2019).

An enhanced tryptophan pathway has been found in psoriasis patients (Harden et al. 2016). Other key metabolites like retinoic acid and polysaccharide A produced by *Clostridia* and *Bacteroides spp. suppress* the immune response by inducing Tregs (Xiao et al. 2008; Russler-Germain et al. 2017). Previously, it has been found that there is a reduced abundance of *Clostridia* and *Bacteroides spp.* in vitiligo patients (Bzioueche et al. 2020), suggesting these metabolites may have a role in the pathogenesis of vitiligo. Therapeutic targets involving key metabolites produced by the gut microbiota may be a potent treatment option for vitiligo.

The gut microbiota has a crucial role in maintaining immune gut homeostasis (Wu and Wu 2012). Particularly, it maintains the balance between T helper 17 cells (Th17 cells) and Tregs (Wu and Wu 2012). However, studies evaluating the role of gut microbiota in vitiligo are lacking, though observational studies have found an alteration of gut microbiota in vitiligo patients (Ni et al. 2020; Lu et al. 2021). Notably, the Bacteroidetes: Firmicutes ratio was decreased (Ni et al. 2020). Furthermore, 23 serum metabolites were found to be altered in (Ni al. 2020). vitiligo patients et Corynebacterium, Ruminococcus, Jeotgalibaca and Psychrobacter were found to be correlated with disease duration and inflammatory markers like IL-1ß (Ni et al. 2020). Similar observations have been observed in skin diseases like psoriasis (Stehlikova et al. 2019). The findings suggest the alteration in the gut microbiome can induce an inflammatory response in vitiligo patients.

In a healthy gut, the microbiota plays a crucial role in the induction, development, and function of Tregs (Wu and Wu 2012). For instance, *Bifidobacterium* and *Lactobacillus* enhance Treg function (Sun et al. 2020). *Bacteroides fragilis* produce metabolites like polysaccharide A, which induces Tregs through the TLR2 pathways (Kayama and Takeda 2014). Previous studies have suggested the role of impaired Treg cell function and number in vitiligo pathogenesi s(Giri et al. 2020b, 2021). Specifically, impaired NFATc1 and FOXP3 expression leads to decreased Treg suppressive function and to decreased expression of immunoregulatory genes (IL-10, TGF- β and CTLA-4) (Giri et al. 2020b, 2021). The gut microbiota can also serve as a potent therapeutic target for vitiligo as the metabolites like SCFAs (?) produce enhanced epigenetic regulation of FOXP3 (Sharma et al. 2020). *Lactobacillus casei* DN 114001 has been shown to activate NFATs in BALB/c mice (Azad et al. 2018). Therefore, the gut microbiome can serve as a vitiligo therapeutic modulating the expression of NFATs and FOXP3, the key transcriptional regulators of Tregs. In addition, gut microbiome-induced Tregs may be a potential therapeutic target for vitiligo (Figure 2) (Table 2) (Giri et al. 2020b).

Given the crucial role of the gut microbiome in autoimmune diseases like vitiligo, there exists an opportunity to intentionally modulate the gut microbiome for therapeutic purposes. The potential therapeutic options to restore the gut microbiome for the treatment of vitiligo are discussed in the next sections.

5.2. Role of probiotics in management of vitiligo

Probiotics are beneficial microbes to the host as they maintain immune homeostasis in the gut by enhancing the mucosal barrier, modulating the immune response, and inducing antimicrobial response (Hemarajata and Versalovic 2013). The metabolites produced by these probiotics shape a healthy gut microbiome by suppressing pathogenic microorganisms(Hemarajata and Versalovic 2013). Several human and animal model-based studies have suggested the beneficial role of probiotics in the suppression of autoimmune diseases like RA, T1DM, SLE(Dol pady et al. 2016; Bodkhe et al. 2019; Khorasani et al. 2019). Moreover, probiotics have been suggested to impart beneficial effects in the treatment of several skin diseases like atopic dermatitis and psoriasis (Bindurani and Bindurani 2019). Studies have suggested that *Lactobacillus* spp. (*L. casei, L. rhamnosus, L. plantarum*), *Bacillus lactis, Fructooligosaccharide*, and *Galactooligosaccharide* suppress autoimmune skin diseases like AD (Ibáñez et al. 2018). Furthermore, *Bifidobacterium infantis* administered into psoriatic patients reduces C-reactive proteins and suppresses TNF- α and IL-6 production (Groeger et al. 2013). These studies suggest probiotics may serve as a potent therapeutic agent for vitiligo treatment as well.

The underlying mechanisms involved in probiotic-based therapeutics of vitiligo are not known, but studies suggest that probiotics can induce the production of anti-inflammatory cytokines like TGF- β and IL-10 (Azad et al. 2018). Probiotics can bind to DCs, leading to DC-mediated activation of Treg cells (Foligne et al. 2007; Xiao et al. 2018). They also suppress the key inflammatory pathways like MAPK and NF- κ B, leading to reduced levels of IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α (Llewellyn and Foey 2017). Additionally, probiotics produce adenosine that is capable of suppressing Th1 and Th17 cell subsets and promoting Treg cells (Omenetti and Pizarro 2015).

Our previous study has suggested altered NFATc1 and FOXP3 results in suppressed Treg cells, which leads to vitiligo pathogenesis (Giri et al. 2020b). Probiotics can enhance expression of NFATs and FOXP3, the key transcription regulators of Tregs, and SCFAs produced by probiotics leads to epigenetic regulation of FOXP3 expression (Sharma et al. 2020). The probiotic *Lactobacillus casei* DN 114001 from fermented milk has been shown to activate NFATs in the BALB/c mouse model (Azad et al. 2018). Additionally, there is a role for *Lactobacillus acidophilus, Lactobacillus casei, Lactobacillus reuteri, Bifidobacterium* and *Streptococcus thermophilus* in the induction of CD4+CD25+FoxP3+ Tregs (O'Mahony et al. 2005, 2008; Whorwell et al. 2006; Feleszko et al. 2007; Kwon et al. 2010; Lavasani et al. 2010;

Konieczna et al. 2012; Kim et al. 2014). The above probiotics have been linked with increased Treg suppressive capacity enhancing the production of IL-10 and TGF- β , the Treg-associated suppressive cytokines (O'Mahony et al. 2005, 2008; Whorwell et al. 2006; Feleszko et al. 2007; Kwon et al. 2010; Lavasani et al. 2010; Konieczna et al. 2012; Kim et al. 2014; Dwivedi et al. 2015). The role of prebiotics fructo-oligosaccharides, inulin, resistant starch, B-galactooligosaccharides in suppression of autoimmune diseases by promoting Tregs number and suppressive capacity has also been shown. The therapeutic potential of probiotics and prebiotics in Treg-mediated treatment of vitiligo and other autoimmune diseases has also been suggested (Figure 2) (Table 2) (Dwivedi et al. 2015, 2016).

5.3. Faecal microorganism transplantation (FMT)

Apart from probiotics-based treatment strategies, FMT can be employed for the restoration of the gut microbiome, which could lead to novel therapeutic options for the treatment of autoimmune vitiligo(Gupta et al. 2016). However, studies examining the therapeutic potential of FMT in vitiligo are lacking. Studies have been carried out in psoriasis. The treated patient showed significant improvement after five weeks, suggesting FMT must also be studied for the treatment of autoimmune diseases like vitiligo (Figure 2) (Table 2) (Chen et al. 2020). The outcome of FMT can be influenced by various factors like host genetics, host immune response, bacterial load and composition, route and mode of administration. Therefore, detailed studies examining the safety and efficacy of FMT-based vitiligo treatments are warranted.

6. Future directions

Limited studies exploring the role of microorganisms in vitiligo pathogenesis have shed light on the involvement of microorganisms in vitiligo. The dysbiosis in the skin and gut microbiome have suggested the involvement of microbes in the pathogenesis of vitiligo. Furthermore, *in vivo, in vitro*, and human clinical trials have examined the role of probiotics in the treatment of various autoimmune diseases. Although the studies suggest probiotic treatments as safe and efficacious in the treatment of autoimmune disease, the lack of studies in vitiligo begs the question of its safety and efficacy in vitiligo therapy. Future studies must focus on finding the exact mechanism involved in microorganism-mediated pathogenesis of vitiligo and study the safety and efficacy of probiotic-based therapeutics for vitiligo.

7. Conclusions

Overall, the studies suggest the decrease in microbial diversity i.e. commensal microbes comprising the skin microbiome could lead to a breach in the skin immune barrier resulting in autoimmune vitiligo. Additionally, the increase in the pathogenic microbes in the lesional skin could trigger an innate immune response through various mechanisms like superantigen formation, molecular mimicry, bystander activation, constant activation. The activated innate immunity could result in T cells and B cells activation, which thereby could cause melanocyte destruction leading to vitiligo pathogenesis. Studying the host-microbiome relationship and identifying the particular skin-associated microbes and the pathways involved in the initiation and exacerbation of immune response against melanocytes could lead to novel immunotherapies for the treatment of vitiligo.



Figure 1: Role of microorganisms in vitiligo pathogenesis

Multiple factors such as infections, environment, genetics, oxidative stress, altered melanocyte adhesion triggers vitiligo development. In particular, infections, dysbiosis in skin and gut microbiome, through molecular mimicry, bystander activation, cross reactivity, epitope spreading and superantigen formation, leads to activation of dendritic cells which thereby activates melanocyte specific T and B cells. Additionally, oxidative stress leads to production of self-antigens, which further activate melanocyte specific T and B cells. These melanocyte-specific CD8⁺ and CD4⁺T cells produce perforin, granzyme B, IFN- γ , whereas B cells produce autoantibodies that contribute to melanocyte destruction. The decreased immunosuppressive

capacity of Tregs, leads to unchecked CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells and B cells, further contributing to melanocytes death leading to vitiligo pathogenesis.



Figure 2: The proposed mechanism of microbiome associated management of vitiligo.

The probiotic treatment faecal microorganism transplantation (FMT) maintains gut microbiome homeostasis and gut barrier integrity. The healthy gut thus reduces infections and further reduces dysbiosis in the skin microbiome. The probiotics and FMT suppress autoimmunity by promoting Treg cells induction, development and function. Probiotics also inhibit inflammatory responses by blocking MAPK and NFKB pathway, suppressing Th1 cell subsets and IFN- γ , TNF- α , IL-17, IL1 β , and IL-6 cytokine production. Probiotic treatment decreases anti-oxidants which can reduce oxidative stress in melanocytes resulting in decreased dendritic cell-mediated melanocyte-specific T and B cells activation. The enhanced Treg cells

produce increased anti-inflammatory cytokines IL-10 and TGF- β , which may suppress melanocyte-specific T and B cell-activation leading to melanocyte survival.

Table 1: The role of microorganisms in vitiligo pathogenesis

Microorganisms/Viruses	Mechanism of vitiligo pathogenesis	References
Methylobacteriumm, Enhydrobacter, Paracoccus,	Methylobacteriumm, Enhydrobacter, Paracoccus,	(Ganju et al. 2016)
Streptococcus, Staphylococcus, Anaerococcus,	Streptococcus and Staphylococcus are found in the lesional skin.	
Microbacterium, Streptophyta and Nocardiodes, Skermanella, Novosphingobium, Roseomonas, Cellvibrio, Turicibacter, Erysipelotrichaceae and Erysipelotrichales	 Anaerococcus, Microbacterium, Streptophyta and Nocardiodes, Actinobacteria and Proteobacterial, Firmicutes are predominant in the lesional skin. 39 taxa found to be different between the lesional and non-lesional skin, specifically, Skermanella, Novosphingobium, Roseomonas, Cellvibrio, Tenisik actor. Empiredateicherene en d Empiredateicheren. 	
	Dysbiosis in the skin microbiome and a decrease in microbial diversity in the lesional skin could hamper the protective skin barrier, aggravating vitiligo.	
Alkaliphilus, dysgonomonas, Odoribacter,	Antibiotic treatment has shown to result in a decrease in microbial	(Dellacecca et al.
Oscillospira, Pedobacter,	diversity resulting in increased B cell and T cell activity contributing to	2020)
Parabacteroides Ruminococus, Pseudomonas	melanocytes destruction and vitiligo pathogenesis.	
aeruginosa and Bacteroides vulgatus		

Gut Microbiome	Reduced Cutibacterium, Proteobacterium, Gammabacterium,	(Ni et al. 2020;
	Acintobacter and Paracocus in lessional skin.	Bzioueche et al.
		2020)
	Dysbiosis in gut microbiota as a result of lowered diversity in vitiligo	
	patients, whereas Firmicutes and Bacteroidetes fraction increased in gut.	
	Bifidobacterium decreased in lesional skin.	
	Enterococcus, Mycoplasma, Veillonella, Intestinibacter, Bacteroides,	
	Escherichia-Shigella, Parabacteroides,	
	Bifidobacterium, and Streptococcus increased in non-lesional skin.	
	Microbial changes in the skin and gut microbiome leads to activation of	
	the innate immune response and increased pro-inflammatory cytokines	
	like IFN- γ , and chemokines such as CXCL9, CXCL10 and CXCL16.	
	These increase activation and trafficking of CD8 ⁺ T cells to vitiligo	
	lesions.	
Helicobacter pylori, Epstein bar virus, cytomegalovirus	Helicobacter pylori, Epstein bar virus, cytomegalovirus may play a role	(Doğan et al. 2014;
	in the development of vitiligo through molecular mimicry.	Dwivedi et al. 2018)
Legionella pneumophila, Chlamydia trachomatis,	Through bystander activation of self-reactive T cells, B cells, NK cells	(Fujinami et al. 2006;
Listeria monocytogenes, and lipopolysaccharides of	and DCs, Legionella pneumophila, Chlamydia trachomatis, Listeria	Arango et al. 2013;
various microorganism	monocytogenes, and lipopolysaccharides of various microorganism can	Jung et al. 2017;
	lead to vitiligo development.	

		Dwivedi et al. 2018;
		Pacheco et al. 2019)
Mycobacterium leprae	M. Leprae infection can cause cross-reactivity or epitope spreading	(Dupin et al. 2003;
	against melanocytes, leading to vitiligo pathogenesis.	Oyarbide-Valencia et
		al. 2006)
Hepatitis C virus, Hepatitis B virus, and HIV	Persistence of infections like hepatitis C virus, hepatitis B virus, and HIV	(Antony and
	in vitiligo patients may trigger autoimmunity as a result of constant	Marsden 2003;
	activation of the immune response.	Dwivedi et al. 2018)

Table 2: The role of microorganisms in vitiligo management

Microorganisms/Probiotic strains	Key findings	References
Clostridia and Bacteroides spp.	Production of retinoic acid and polysaccharide A suppresses the	(Xiao et al. 2008;
	immune response by inducing Tregs.	Russler-Germain et al.
		2017)
Bacteroides fragilis	Bacteroides fragilis produces metabolites like polysaccharide A,	(Kayama and Takeda
	which induces Tregs through the TLR2 pathways.	2014)
Bifidobacterium and Lactobacillus	Bifidobacterium and Lactobacillus enhance Treg function.	(Sun et al. 2020)
Lactobacillus helveticus HY7801	Administration induces regulatory CD11c+ dendritic cells, which	(Kim et al. 2015)
	reduces pro-inflammatory cytokines TNF- α , IFN- γ , and IL-17A and	
	enhances anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 production by CD4+ T	
	cells.	
Lactobacillus kefiranofaciensand Lactobacillus	Administration increases IL-10 levels, which inhibits the secretion of	(Wei et al. 2015)
kefiri	pro-inflammatory cytokines TNF- α , IL-1 β , IL-2 and IL-6.	
Lactobacillus casei DN 114001	Lactobacillus casei DN 114001 activates NFATs in BALB/c mice,	(Azad et al. 2018)
	which increases Treg cell suppressive function.	
Lactobacillus rhamnosus, Lactobacillus delbrueckii	Treatment enhances Tregs and the increases expression level of	(Khorasani et al. 2019)
	Foxp3.	
	Decreases IL-6, IFN- γ , IL-17 and ROR γ t levels.	

	Reduces Th1-Th17 cells.	
Lactobacillus rhamnosus GR-1 and Lactobacillus	Treatment leads to significant reduction of pro-inflammatory	(de los Angeles Pineda
reuteri RC-14	cytokines TNF- α , IL-1 β , IL-8, IL-6, IL-12, IL-15, IL-17 and M1P-1 α .	et al. 2011)
Lactobacillus paracasei GMNL-32,	Supplementation in NZB/W F1 mice reduces the expressions of IL-	(Hsu et al. 2017;
Lactobacillus reuteri GMNL-89 and Lactobacillus.	1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α by suppressing the mitogen-activated protein	Tzang et al. 2017; Yeh
reuteri GMNL-263	kinase and NF- κB signalling pathways.	et al. 2020)
	Increases the differentiation of CD4+CD25+FoxP3+ T cells.	
Lactobacillus oris, Lactobacillus rhamnosus,	Lactobacillus treatment contributes to an anti-inflammatory	(Mu et al. 2017b)
Lactobacillus reuteri, Lactobacillus johnsonii, and	environment by decreasing IL-6 and increasing IL-10 production in	
Lactobacillus gasseri	the gut.	
	Skews the Treg-Th17 balance towards a Treg phenotype.	
Lactobacillus casei, Lactobacillus acidophilus	Oral administration reduces IL-12, IL-6, TNF-α, IL-1β, IL-17 and IL-	(So et al. 2008;
	4 levels and increases anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10.	Amdekar et al. 2013;
	Reduce oxidative stress.	Alipour et al. 2014)
	Reduced inflammation, decreased oxidative stress and reduced anti-	
	inflammatory cytokines may suppress anti-melanocyte-specific T and	
	B cells.	
Oral administration of <i>Escherichia coli</i> Nissle 1917	Decreases inflammatory cytokines such as IFN- γ , TNF- α and IL-17,	(Secher et al. 2017)
	Increases production of autoreactive CD4+ T cells, IL-10 and CD4+	
	Foxp3+ in lymph nodes.	
	Improves intestinal barrier dysfunction and neuroinflammatory	

	factors.	
Faecal microorganism transplantation	Shown to be beneficial in treatment of psoriasis, an autoimmune skin	(Gupta et al. 2016;
	disease similar to vitiligo.	Chen et al. 2020)

References

- Acha-Orbea H (1993) Bacterial and viral superantigens: roles in autoimmunity? Ann. Rheum. Dis. 52(Suppl 1:S6–S16. https://doi.org/10.1136/ard.52.suppl_1.s6
- Agrawal D, Shajil EM, Marfatia YS, Begum R (2004) Study on the antioxidant status of vitiligo patients of different age groups in Baroda. Pigment cell Res. 17:289–294. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0749.2004.00149.x
- Alberts B, Johnson A, Lewis J, Raff M, Roberts K, Walter P (2002) Lymphocytes and the Cellular Basis of Adaptive Immunity
- Alipour B, Homayouni-Rad A, Vaghef-Mehrabany E, ... Mohtadi-Nia J (2014) Effects of *Lactobacillus casei* supplementation on disease activity and inflammatory cytokines in rheumatoid arthritis patients: a randomized double-blind clinical trial. Int. J. Rheum. Dis. 17:n/a-n/a. https://doi.org/10.1111/1756-185X.12333
- Amdekar S, Singh V, Kumar A, Sharma P, Singh R (2013) Lactobacillus casei and Lactobacillus acidophilus regulate inflammatory pathway and improve antioxidant status in collagen-induced arthritic rats. J. Interf. cytokine Res. Off. J. Int. Soc. Interf. Cytokine Res. 33:1–8. https://doi.org/10.1089/jir.2012.0034
- Antony FC, Marsden RA (2003) Vitiligo in association with human immunodeficiency virus infection. J. Eur. Acad. Dermatol. Venereol. 17:456–458. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1468-3083.2003.00762.x
- Arango M-T, Shoenfeld Y, Cervera R, Anaya J-M (2013) Infection and autoimmune diseases
- Atefi N, Noorbakhsh S, Ghavidel Darestani S, Tabatabaei A, Rezaee M (2014) The rise of staphylococcal super antigens in psoriatic patients: a case-control study. Jundishapur J. Microbiol. 7:e9912–e9912. https://doi.org/10.5812/jjm.9912
- Azad MAK, Sarker M, Wan D (2018) Immunomodulatory Effects of Probiotics on Cytokine Profiles. Biomed Res. Int. 2018. https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/8063647
- Bassaganya-Riera J, DiGuardo M, Viladomiu M, ... Hontecillas R (2011) Soluble fibers and resistant starch ameliorate disease activity in interleukin-10-deficient mice with inflammatory bowel disease. J. Nutr. 141:1318–1325. https://doi.org/10.3945/jn.111.139022
- Bergqvist C, Ezzedine K (2020) Vitiligo: A Review. Dermatology 1-22.

- Bindurani S, Bindurani S (2019) Review: Probiotics in dermatology. J. Ski. Sex. Transm. Dis. 1:66–71. https://doi.org/10.25259/JSSTD_18_2019
- Bodkhe R, Balakrishnan B, Taneja V (2019) The role of microbiome in rheumatoid arthritis treatment. Ther. Adv. Musculoskelet. Dis. 11.
- Boniface K, Passeron T, Seneschal J, Tulic MK (2021) Targeting Innate Immunity to Combat Cutaneous Stress: The Vitiligo Perspective. Front. Immunol. 12:613056. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2021.613056
- Bonifacius A, Goldmann O, Floess S, ... Huehn J (2020) Staphylococcus aureus Alpha-Toxin Limits Type 1 While Fostering Type 3 Immune Responses. Front. Immunol. 11:1579. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2020.01579
- Bringiotti R, Ierardi E, Lovero R, Losurdo G, Leo A Di, Principi M (2014) Intestinal microbiota: The explosive mixture at the origin of inflammatory bowel disease? World J. Gastrointest. Pathophysiol. 5:550–559. https://doi.org/10.4291/wjgp.v5.i4.550
- Byrd AL, Belkaid Y, Segre JA (2018) The human skin microbiome. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 16:143–155. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro.2017.157
- Bzioueche H, Simonyté Sjödin K, West CE, ... Tulic MK (2020) Deep skin dysbiosis in vitiligo patients: link with mitochondrial and immune changes. medRxiv 2020.07.29.20163469. https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.07.29.20163469
- Cai Y, Fleming C, Yan J (2012) New insights of T cells in the pathogenesis of psoriasis. Cell. Mol. Immunol. 9:302–309. https://doi.org/10.1038/cmi.2012.15
- Cai M, Zhou L, Liao J, Huang Q, Xia Z, Shang J (2019) IFN-γ inhibits 5-HT-induced melanin biosynthesis via downregulation of 5-HT receptors in vivo/in vitro. J. Pharmacol. Sci. 141:1–8. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jphs.2019.05.005
- Camara-Lemarroy CR, Salas-Alanis JC (2013) The role of tumor necrosis factor-α in the pathogenesis of vitiligo. Am. J. Clin. Dermatol. 14:343–350.
- Campione E, Lanna C, Diluvio L, ... Bianchi L (2020) Skin immunity and its dysregulation in atopic dermatitis, hidradenitis suppurativa and vitiligo. Cell Cycle 19:257–267. https://doi.org/10.1080/15384101.2019.1707455
- Chang H-W, Yan D, Singh R, ... Liao W (2018) Alteration of the cutaneous microbiome in psoriasis and potential role in Th17 polarization. Microbiome 2018 61 6:1–27. https://doi.org/10.1186/S40168-018-0533-1

- Chang SE, Feng A, Meng W, ... Utz PJ (2021) New-onset IgG autoantibodies in hospitalized patients with COVID-19. Nat. Commun. 12:5417. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-25509-3
- Charles A Janeway J, Travers P, Walport M, Shlomchik MJ (2001) The production of armed effector T cells
- Chatterjee S, Eby JM, Al-Khami AA, ... Mehrotra S (2014) A quantitative increase in regulatory T cells controls development of vitiligo. J. Invest. Dermatol. 134:1285–1294. https://doi.org/10.1038/jid.2013.540
- Chelakkot C, Ghim J, Ryu SH (2018) Mechanisms regulating intestinal barrier integrity and its pathological implications. Exp. Mol. Med. 50:103. https://doi.org/10.1038/s12276-018-0126-x
- Chen L, Li J, Zhu W, ... Peng C (2020) Skin and Gut Microbiome in Psoriasis: Gaining InsightInto the Pathophysiology of It and Finding Novel Therapeutic Strategies . Front.Microbiol. 11:3201.
- Chen J, Li S, Li C (2021) Mechanisms of melanocyte death in vitiligo. Med. Res. Rev. 41:1138–1166. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/med.21754
- Cichorek M, Wachulska M, Stasiewicz A, Tymińska A (2013) Skin melanocytes: biology and development. Postep. dermatologii i Alergol. 30:30–41. https://doi.org/10.5114/pdia.2013.33376
- Clayton K, Vallejo AF, Davies J, Sirvent S, Polak ME (2017) Langerhans Cells—Programmed by the Epidermis . Front. Immunol. 8:1676.
- Cogen AL, Nizet V, Gallo RL (2008) Skin microbiota: a source of disease or defence? Br. J. Dermatol. 158:442–455. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2133.2008.08437.x
- Colucci R, Dragoni F, Moretti S (2015) Oxidative Stress and Immune System in Vitiligo and Thyroid Diseases, (T. Kietzmann, Ed.). Oxid. Med. Cell. Longev. 2015:631927. https://doi.org/10.1155/2015/631927
- Dellacecca ER, Cosgrove C, Mukhatayev Z, ... Poole IC Le (2020) Antibiotics Drive Microbial Imbalance and Vitiligo Development in Mice. J. Invest. Dermatol. 140:676-687.e6. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jid.2019.08.435
- Denat L, Kadekaro AL, Marrot L, Leachman SA, Abdel-Malek ZA (2014) Melanocytes as instigators and victims of oxidative stress. J. Invest. Dermatol. 134:1512–1518.

https://doi.org/10.1038/jid.2014.65

- Diamond G, Beckloff N, Weinberg A, Kisich KO (2009) The roles of antimicrobial peptides in innate host defense. Curr. Pharm. Des. 15:2377–2392. https://doi.org/10.2174/138161209788682325
- Doğan Z, Özdemir P, Ekşioğlu M, Filik L (2014) Relationship between Helicobacter pylori infection and vitiligo: a prospective study. Am. J. Clin. Dermatol. 15:457–462. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40257-014-0087-3
- Dolpady J, Sorini C, Pietro C Di, ... Falcone M (2016) Oral probiotic VSL#3 prevents autoimmune diabetes by modulating microbiota and promoting indoleamine 2,3dioxygenase-enriched tolerogenic intestinal environment. J. Diabetes Res. 2016. https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/7569431
- Dupin E, Real C, Glavieux-Pardanaud C, Vaigot P, Douarin NM Le (2003) Reversal of developmental restrictions in neural crest lineages: transition from Schwann cells to glialmelanocytic precursors in vitro. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 100:5229–5233. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0831229100
- Dwivedi M, Laddha NC, Imran M, ... Ming L (2013a) Complete sequence and gene map of a human major histocompatibility complex. The MHC sequencing consortium. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res. 14:921–923. https://doi.org/10.1038/44853
- Dwivedi M, Laddha NC, Arora P, Marfatia YS, Begum R (2013b) Decreased regulatory Tcells and CD4+/CD8+ ratio correlate with disease onset and progression in patients with generalized vitiligo. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res. 26:586–591. https://doi.org/10.1111/PCMR.12105
- Dwivedi M, Laddha NC, Mansuri MS, Marfatia YS, Begum R (2013c) Association of NLRP1 genetic variants and mRNA overexpression with generalized vitiligo and disease activity in a Gujarat population. Br. J. Dermatol. 169:1114–1125. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjd.12467
- Dwivedi M, Laddha NC, Shah K, Shah BJ, Begum R (2013d) Involvement of Interferon-Gamma Genetic Variants and Intercellular Adhesion Molecule-1 in Onset and Progression of Generalized Vitiligo. J. Interf. Cytokine Res. 33:646–659. https://doi.org/10.1089/jir.2012.0171
- Dwivedi M, Kemp EH, Laddha NC, Mansuri MS, Weetman AP, Begum R (2015) Regulatory

T cells in vitiligo: Implications for pathogenesis and therapeutics. Autoimmun. Rev. 14:49–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.autrev.2014.10.002

- Dwivedi M, Kumar P, Laddha NC, Kemp EH (2016) Induction of regulatory T cells: A role for probiotics and prebiotics to suppress autoimmunity. Autoimmun. Rev. 15:379–392. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.AUTREV.2016.01.002
- Dwivedi M, Laddha N, Begum R (2018) Viral causes of vitiligo: A new perspective for vitiligo pathogenesis. Viral Immunol. 2:1–4.
- Eby JM, Kang H-K, Klarquist J, ... Poole IC Le (2014) Immune Responses in A Mouse Model of Vitiligo with Spontaneous Epidermal De- and Repigmentation. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res. 27:1075. https://doi.org/10.1111/PCMR.12284
- Englaro W, Bahadoran P, Bertolotto C, ... Ballotti R (1999) Tumor necrosis factor alphamediated inhibition of melanogenesis is dependent on nuclear factor kappa B activation. Oncogene 18:1553–1559. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.onc.1202446
- Farag AGA, Hammam MA, Habib MS, Elnaidany NF, Kamh ME (2018) Macrophage migration inhibitory factor as an incriminating agent in vitiligo. An. Bras. Dermatol. 93:191–196. https://doi.org/10.1590/abd1806-4841.20186068
- Feleszko W, Jaworska J, Rha R-D, ... Hamelmann E (2007) Probiotic-induced suppression of allergic sensitization and airway inflammation is associated with an increase of T regulatory-dependent mechanisms in a murine model of asthma. Clin. Exp. allergy J. Br. Soc. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 37:498–505. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2222.2006.02629.x
- Flowers L, Grice EA (2020) The Skin Microbiota: Balancing Risk and Reward. Cell Host Microbe 28:190–200. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chom.2020.06.017
- Foligne B, Zoumpopoulou G, Dewulf J, ... Grangette C (2007) A key role of dendritic cells in probiotic functionality. PLoS One 2:e313–e313. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0000313
- Foulongne V, Sauvage V, Hebert C, … Eloit M (2012) Human skin microbiota: high diversity of DNA viruses identified on the human skin by high throughput sequencing. PLoS One 7:e38499. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0038499
- Frączek A, Owczarczyk-Saczonek A, Placek W (2020) The Role of TRM Cells in the Pathogenesis of Vitiligo—A Review of the Current State-Of-The-Art. Int. J. Mol. Sci.

21:3552. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21103552

- Francuzik W, Franke K, Schumann RR, Heine G, Worm M (2018) Propionibacterium acnes abundance correlates inversely with staphylococcus aureus: Data from atopic dermatitis skin microbiome. Acta Derm. Venereol. 98:490–495. https://doi.org/10.2340/00015555-2896
- Frisoli ML, Essien K, Harris JE (2020) Vitiligo: Mechanisms of Pathogenesis and Treatment. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 38:621–648. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-immunol-100919-023531
- Fujinami RS, Herrath MG von, Christen U, Whitton JL (2006) Molecular mimicry, bystander activation, or viral persistence: infections and autoimmune disease. Clin. Microbiol. Rev. 19:80–94. https://doi.org/10.1128/CMR.19.1.80-94.2006
- Galeotti C, Bayry J (2020) Autoimmune and inflammatory diseases following COVID-19. Nat. Rev. Rheumatol. 16:413–414. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41584-020-0448-7
- Ganju P, Nagpal S, Mohammed MH, ... Gokhale RS (2016) Microbial community profiling shows dysbiosis in the lesional skin of Vitiligo subjects. Sci. Rep. 6:18761. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep18761
- Gaurkar SP, Parmar KS, Shah BJ (2014) Sequential development of psoriasis, alopecia universalis, and vitiligo vulgaris in a human immunodeficiency virus seropositive patient:
 A unique case report. Indian J. Sex. Transm. Dis. AIDS 35:167–169. https://doi.org/10.4103/0253-7184.142424
- Gavalas NG, Gottumukkala R V, Gawkrodger DJ, Watson PF, Weetman AP, Kemp EH (2009) Mapping of melanin-concentrating hormone receptor 1 B cell epitopes predicts two major binding sites for vitiligo patient autoantibodies. Exp Dermatol 18:454–463. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0625.2008.00813.x
- Gellatly KJ, Strassner JP, Essien K, … Harris JE (2021) scRNA-seq of human vitiligo reveals complex networks of subclinical immune activation and a role for CCR5 in Treg function. Sci. Transl. Med. 13. https://doi.org/10.1126/SCITRANSLMED.ABD8995
- Gholijani N, Yazdani M-R, Dastgheib L (2020) Predominant role of innate pro-inflammatory cytokines in vitiligo disease. Arch. Dermatol. Res. 312:123–131. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00403-019-01996-9
- Giri, P. S., Dwivedi M (2021) Meta-Analysis for Association of TNFA -308 G>A

Polymorphism with Vitiligo Susceptibility. Gene. Gene.

- Giri PS, Dwivedi M, Laddha NC, Begum R, Bharti AH (2020a) Altered expression of nuclear factor of activated T cells, forkhead box P3, and immune-suppressive genes in regulatory T cells of generalized vitiligo patients. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res. https://doi.org/10.1111/pcmr.12862
- Giri PS, Dwivedi M, Begum R (2020b) Decreased suppression of CD8+ and CD4+ T cells by peripheral regulatory T cells in generalized vitiligo due to reduced NFATC1 and FOXP3 proteins. Exp. Dermatol. 29:759–775. https://doi.org/10.1111/EXD.14157
- Giri PS, Patel S, Begum R, Dwivedi M (2021) Association of FOXP3 and GAGE10 promoter polymorphisms and decreased FOXP3 expression in regulatory T cells with susceptibility to generalized vitiligo in Gujarat population. Gene 768:145295. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gene.2020.145295
- Grau M, Valsesia S, Mafille J, ... Marvel J (2018) Antigen-Induced but Not Innate Memory CD8 T Cells Express NKG2D and Are Recruited to the Lung Parenchyma upon Viral Infection. J. Immunol. 200:3635 LP – 3646. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1701698
- Grice EA, Segre JA (2011) The skin microbiome. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 9:244-253.
- Grimes PE, Sevall JS, Vojdani A (1996) Cytomegalovirus DNA identified in skin biopsy specimens of patients with vitiligo. J. Am. Acad. Dermatol. 35:21–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0190-9622(96)90490-9
- Grimes PE, Miller MM (2018) Vitiligo: Patient stories, self-esteem, and the psychological burden of disease. Int. J. Women's Dermatology 4:32–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijwd.2017.11.005
- Groeger D, O'Mahony L, Murphy EF, ... Quigley EMM (2013) Bifidobacterium infantis 35624 modulates host inflammatory processes beyond the gut. Gut Microbes 4:325–339. https://doi.org/10.4161/gmic.25487
- Gupta S, Allen-Vercoe E, Petrof EO (2016) Fecal microbiota transplantation: in perspective. Therap. Adv. Gastroenterol. 9:229–239. https://doi.org/10.1177/1756283X15607414
- Harden JL, Lewis SM, Lish SR, ... Lowes MA (2016) The tryptophan metabolism enzyme Lkynureninase is a novel inflammatory factor in psoriasis and other inflammatory diseases.
 J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 137:1830–1840. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2015.09.055

Hemarajata P, Versalovic J (2013) Effects of probiotics on gut microbiota: mechanisms of

intestinal immunomodulation and neuromodulation. Therap. Adv. Gastroenterol. 6:39–51. https://doi.org/10.1177/1756283X12459294

- Henning SW, Jaishankar D, Barse LW, ... Poole IC Le (2020) The relationship between stress and vitiligo: Evaluating perceived stress and electronic medical record data. PLoS One 15:e0227909–e0227909. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0227909
- Hoashi T, Watabe H, Muller J, Yamaguchi Y, Vieira WD, Hearing VJ (2005) MART-1 is required for the function of the melanosomal matrix protein PMEL17/GP100 and the maturation of melanosomes. J. Biol. Chem. 280:14006–14016. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M413692200
- Hsu T-C, Huang C-Y, Liu C-H, Hsu K-C, Chen Y-H, Tzang B-S (2017) Lactobacillus paracasei GMNL-32, Lactobacillus reuteri GMNL-89 and L. reuteri GMNL-263 ameliorate hepatic injuries in lupus-prone mice. Br. J. Nutr. 117:1066–1074. https://doi.org/DOI: 10.1017/S0007114517001039
- Ibáñez MD, Rodríguez del Río P, González-Segura Alsina D, Villegas Iglesias V (2018) Effect of synbiotic supplementation on children with atopic dermatitis: an observational prospective study. Eur. J. Pediatr. 177:1851–1858. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00431-018-3253-4
- Imran M, Laddha NC, Dwivedi M, ... Begum R (2012) Interleukin-4 genetic variants correlate with its transcript and protein levels in patients with vitiligo. Br. J. Dermatol. 167:314– 323. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2133.2012.11000.x
- Ivanov A V, Valuev-Elliston VT, Ivanova ON, ... Isaguliants MG (2016) Oxidative Stress during HIV Infection: Mechanisms and Consequences. Oxid. Med. Cell. Longev. 2016:8910396. https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/8910396
- Jadeja SD, Mansuri MS, Singh M, Dwivedi M, Laddha NC, Begum R (2017) A case-control study on association of proteasome subunit beta 8 (PSMB8) and transporter associated with antigen processing 1 (TAP1) polymorphisms and their transcript levels in vitiligo from Gujarat. PLoS One 12:e0180958. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0180958
- Jadeja SD, Mayatra JM, Vaishnav J, Shukla N, Begum R (2021) A Concise Review on the Role of Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress in the Development of Autoimmunity in Vitiligo Pathogenesis . Front. Immunol. 11:3817.
- Jung AL, Herkt CE, Schulz C, ... Schmeck B (2017) Legionella pneumophila infection

activates bystander cells differentially by bacterial and host cell vesicles. Sci. Rep. 7:6301. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-06443-1

- Kany S, Vollrath JT, Relja B (2019) Cytokines in Inflammatory Disease. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 20:6008. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms20236008
- Katz EL, Harris JE (2021) Translational Research in Vitiligo . Front. Immunol. 12:175.
- Kayama H, Takeda K (2014) Polysaccharide A of Bacteroides fragilis: Actions on Dendritic Cells and T Cells. Mol. Cell 54:206–207. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2014.04.002
- Kemp EH, Gawkrodger DJ, Watson PF, Weetman AP (1998) Autoantibodies to human melanocyte-specific protein Pmel17 in the sera of vitiligo patients: A sensitive and quantitative radioimmunoassay (RIA). Clin. Exp. Immunol. 114:333–338. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2249.1998.00746.x
- Khan MF, Wang H (2020) Environmental Exposures and Autoimmune Diseases: Contribution of Gut Microbiome . Front. Immunol. 10:3094.
- Khorasani S, Mahmoudi M, Kalantari MR, ... Rastin M (2019) Amelioration of regulatory T cells by Lactobacillus delbrueckii and Lactobacillus rhamnosus in pristane-induced lupus mice model. J. Cell. Physiol. 234:9778–9786. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcp.27663
- Kim H-J, Kim Y-J, Lee S-H, Yu J, Jeong SK, Hong S-J (2014) Effects of Lactobacillus rhamnosus on allergic march model by suppressing Th2, Th17, and TSLP responses via CD4(+)CD25(+)Foxp3(+) Tregs. Clin. Immunol. 153:178–186. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clim.2014.04.008
- Kim J-E, Chae CS, Kim G-C, ... Im S-H (2015) Lactobacillus helveticus suppresses experimental rheumatoid arthritis by reducing inflammatory T cell responses. J. Funct. Foods 13:350–362. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jff.2015.01.002
- Kim J, Kim BE, Ahn K, Leung DYM (2019) Interactions Between Atopic Dermatitis and Staphylococcus aureus Infection: Clinical Implications. Allergy. Asthma Immunol. Res. 11:593–603. https://doi.org/10.4168/aair.2019.11.5.593
- Koguchi-Yoshioka H, Hoffer E, Cheuk S, ... Watanabe R (2021) Skin T cells maintain their diversity and functionality in the elderly. Commun. Biol. 4:13. https://doi.org/10.1038/s42003-020-01551-7
- Konieczna P, Groeger D, Ziegler M, ... O'Mahony L (2012) Bifidobacterium infantis 35624

administration induces Foxp3 T regulatory cells in human peripheral blood: potential role for myeloid and plasmacytoid dendritic cells. Gut 61:354–366. https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2011-300936

- Kotobuki Y, Tanemura A, Yang L, ... Katayama I (2012) Dysregulation of melanocyte function by Th17-related cytokines: significance of Th17 cell infiltration in autoimmune vitiligo vulgaris. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res. 25:219–230. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1755-148X.2011.00945.x
- Kroll TM, Bommiasamy H, Boissy RE, ... Caroline Le Poole I (2005) 4-Tertiary butyl phenol exposure sensitizes human melanocytes to dendritic cell-mediated killing: relevance to vitiligo. J. Invest. Dermatol. 124:798–806. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0022-202X.2005.23653.x
- Kwon H-K, Lee C-G, So J-S, ... Im S-H (2010) Generation of regulatory dendritic cells and CD4+Foxp3+ T cells by probiotics administration suppresses immune disorders. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 107:2159–2164. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0904055107
- Laddha NC, Dwivedi M, Begum R (2012a) Increased Tumor Necrosis Factor (TNF)-α and Its Promoter Polymorphisms Correlate with Disease Progression and Higher Susceptibility towards Vitiligo. PLoS One 7. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0052298
- Laddha NC, Dwivedi M, Begum R, ... Vural P (2012b) Tumor necrosis factor a promotor polymorphism and nonsegmental vitiligo : a molecular susceptibility marker in Egyptian women. PLoS One 3:1–17. https://doi.org/10.1111/ced.12446
- Laddha NC, Dwivedi M, Gani AR, Shajil EM, Begum R (2013a) Involvement of superoxide dismutase isoenzymes and their genetic variants in progression of and higher susceptibility to vitiligo. Free Radic Biol Med 65:1110–1125. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2013.08.189
- Laddha NC, Dwivedi M, Mansuri MS, ... Begum R (2013b) Vitiligo: Interplay between oxidative stress and immune system. Exp. Dermatol. 22:245–250. https://doi.org/10.1111/exd.12103
- Laddha NC, Dwivedi M, Mansuri MS, ... Begum R (2014a) Role of oxidative stress and autoimmunity in onset and progression of vitiligo. Exp Dermatol 23:352–353. https://doi.org/10.1111/exd.12372
- Laddha NC, Dwivedi M, Mansuri MS, ... Begum R (2014b) Association of neuropeptide Y

(NPY), interleukin-1B (IL1B) genetic variants and correlation of IL1B transcript levels with vitiligo susceptibility. PLoS One 9. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0107020

- Lambe T, Leung JCH, Bouriez-Jones T, ... Cornall RJ (2006) CD4 T Cell-Dependent Autoimmunity against a Melanocyte Neoantigen Induces Spontaneous Vitiligo and Depends upon Fas-Fas Ligand Interactions. J. Immunol. 177:3055 LP – 3062. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.177.5.3055
- Lavasani S, Dzhambazov B, Nouri M, ... Weström B (2010) A novel probiotic mixture exerts a therapeutic effect on experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis mediated by IL-10 producing regulatory T cells. PLoS One 5. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0009009
- Lee KY, Jeon SY, Hong JW, ... Kim KH (2013) Endothelin-1 enhances the proliferation of normal human melanocytes in a paradoxical manner from the TNF-α-inhibited condition, but tacrolimus promotes exclusively the cellular migration without proliferation: A proposed action mechanism for combination t. J. Eur. Acad. Dermatology Venereol. 27:609–616. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-3083.2012.04498.x
- Leung DY, Travers JB, Giorno R, ... Kotb M (1995) Evidence for a streptococcal superantigendriven process in acute guttate psoriasis. J. Clin. Invest. 96:2106–2112. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI118263
- Li Q, Lv Y, Li C, ... Gao T (2011) Vitiligo Autoantigen VIT75 Is Identified as Lamin A in Vitiligo by Serological Proteome Analysis Based on Mass Spectrometry. J. Invest. Dermatol. 131:727–734. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1038/jid.2010.341
- Lili Y, Yi W, Ji Y, Yue S, Weimin S, Ming L (2012) Global activation of CD8+ cytotoxic T lymphocytes correlates with an impairment in regulatory T cells in patients with generalized vitiligo. PLoS One 7. https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0037513
- Liu T, Zhang L, Joo D, Sun S-C (2017) NF-κB signaling in inflammation. Signal Transduct. Target. Ther. 2:17023. https://doi.org/10.1038/sigtrans.2017.23
- Liu Y, Sawalha AH, Lu Q (2021) COVID-19 and autoimmune diseases. Curr. Opin. Rheumatol. 33:155–162. https://doi.org/10.1097/BOR.000000000000776
- Llewellyn A, Foey A (2017) Probiotic Modulation of Innate Cell Pathogen Sensing and Signaling Events. Nutrients 9:1156. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu9101156
- los Angeles Pineda M de, Thompson SF, Summers K, Leon F de, Pope J, Reid G (2011) A randomized, double-blinded, placebo-controlled pilot study of probiotics in active

rheumatoid arthritis. Med. Sci. Monit. 17. https://doi.org/10.12659/MSM.881808

- Lowes MA, Suárez-Fariñas M, Krueger JG (2014) Immunology of psoriasis. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 32:227–255. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-immunol-032713-120225
- Lu H, Xu J, Hu Y, ... Song X (2021) Differences in the skin microbial community between patients with active and stable vitiligo based on 16S rRNA gene sequencing. Australas. J. Dermatol. n/a. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/ajd.13721
- Luca F De, Shoenfeld Y (2019) The microbiome in autoimmune diseases. Clin. Exp. Immunol. 195:74–85. https://doi.org/10.1111/cei.13158
- Manga P, Bis S, Knoll K, Perez B, Orlow SJ (2010) The unfolded protein response in melanocytes: activation in response to chemical stressors of the endoplasmic reticulum and tyrosinase misfolding. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res. 23:627–634. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1755-148X.2010.00718.x
- Manga P, Elbuluk N, Orlow SJ (2016) Recent advances in understanding vitiligo.F1000Research5:F1000FacultyRev-2234.https://doi.org/10.12688/f1000research.8976.1
- Mayslich C, Grange PA, Dupin N (2021) Cutibacterium acnes as an Opportunistic Pathogen: An Update of Its Virulence-Associated Factors. Microorg. 9.
- McLaughlin J, Watterson S, Layton AM, Bjourson AJ, Barnard E, McDowell A (2019)
 Propionibacterium acnes and Acne Vulgaris: New Insights from the Integration of
 Population Genetic, Multi-Omic, Biochemical and Host-Microbe Studies.
 Microorganisms 7:128. https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms7050128
- McMillan P, Dexhiemer T, Neubig RR, Uhal BD (2021) COVID-19—A Theory of Autoimmunity Against ACE-2 Explained . Front. Immunol. 12:499.
- Mogensen TH (2009) Pathogen recognition and inflammatory signaling in innate immune defenses. Clin. Microbiol. Rev. 22:240–273. https://doi.org/10.1128/CMR.00046-08
- Mohammed GF, Gomaa AH, Al-Dhubaibi MS (2015) Highlights in pathogenesis of vitiligo. World J. Clin. cases 3:221–230. https://doi.org/10.12998/wjcc.v3.i3.221
- Mohd A, IJ K, MA Q, Devi N, HA L (2019) Vitiligo and helminthiasis a retrospective study to establish a causal relationship in patients treated with coded Unani drug. J. Evol. Med. Dent. Sci. 8:2219–2222.
- Moran AP, Prendergast MM (2001) Molecular mimicry in Campylobacter jejuni and

Helicobacter pylori lipopolysaccharides: contribution of gastrointestinal infections to autoimmunity. J. Autoimmun. 16:241–256. https://doi.org/10.1006/jaut.2000.0490

- Moro G, Arslanoglu S, Stahl B, Jelinek J, Wahn U, Boehm G (2006) A mixture of prebiotic oligosaccharides reduces the incidence of atopic dermatitis during the first six months of age. Arch. Dis. Child. 91:814–819. https://doi.org/10.1136/adc.2006.098251
- Mu Q, Kirby J, Reilly CM, Luo XM (2017a) Leaky Gut As a Danger Signal for Autoimmune Diseases. Front. Immunol. 8:598. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2017.00598
- Mu Q, Zhang H, Liao X, ... Luo XM (2017b) Control of lupus nephritis by changes of gut microbiota. Microbiome 5:73. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40168-017-0300-8
- Mukhatayev Z, Dellacecca ER, Cosgrove C, ... Poole IC Le (2020) Antigen Specificity Enhances Disease Control by Tregs in Vitiligo. Front. Immunol. 11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2020.581433
- Murphree RW (2017) Impairments in Skin Integrity. Nurs. Clin. North Am. 52:405–417. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cnur.2017.04.008
- Nakamura Y, Oscherwitz J, Cease KB, ... Núñez G (2013) Staphylococcus δ-toxin induces allergic skin disease by activating mast cells. Nature 503:397–401. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature12655
- Nestle FO, Meglio P Di, Qin J-Z, Nickoloff BJ (2009) Skin immune sentinels in health and disease. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 9:679–691. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri2622
- Nguyen A V, Soulika AM (2019) The Dynamics of the Skin's Immune System. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 20:1811. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms20081811
- Ni Q, Ye Z, Wang Y, ... Li C (2020) Gut Microbial Dysbiosis and Plasma Metabolic Profile in Individuals With Vitiligo . Front. Microbiol. 11:3215.
- Niebuhr M, Gathmann M, Scharonow H, ... Werfel T (2011) Staphylococcal alpha-toxin is a strong inducer of interleukin-17 in humans. Infect. Immun. 79:1615–1622. https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.00958-10
- Nordlund JJ (2011) VITILIGO: A REVIEW OF SOME FACTS LESSER KNOWN ABOUT DEPIGMENTATION. Indian J. Dermatol. 56:180. https://doi.org/10.4103/0019-5154.80413
- O'Mahony L, McCarthy J, Kelly P, ... Quigley EMM (2005) Lactobacillus and bifidobacterium in irritable bowel syndrome: symptom responses and relationship to

cytokine profiles. Gastroenterology 128:541–551. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2004.11.050

- O'Mahony C, Scully P, O'Mahony D, ... O'Mahony L (2008) Commensal-Induced Regulatory T Cells Mediate Protection against Pathogen-Stimulated NF-κB Activation. PLOS Pathog. 4:e1000112.
- Ogg GS, Rod Dunbar P, Romero P, Chen JL, Cerundolo V (1998) High frequency of skinhoming melanocyte-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes in autoimmune vitiligo. J. Exp. Med. 188:1203–1208. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.188.6.1203
- Oliveira GLV de, Leite AZ, Higuchi BS, Gonzaga MI, Mariano VS (2017) Intestinal dysbiosis and probiotic applications in autoimmune diseases. Immunology 152:1–12. https://doi.org/10.1111/imm.12765
- Omenetti S, Pizarro TT (2015) The Treg/Th17 axis: A dynamic balance regulated by the gut microbiome. Front. Immunol. 6:17.
- Otto M (2009) Staphylococcus epidermidis--the "accidental" pathogen. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 7:555–567. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro2182
- Otto M (2014) Staphylococcus aureus toxins. Curr. Opin. Microbiol. 17:32–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mib.2013.11.004
- Oyarbide-Valencia K, Boorn JG van den, Denman CJ, ... Poole IC Le (2006) Therapeutic implications of autoimmune vitiligo T cells. Autoimmun. Rev. 5:486–492. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.autrev.2006.03.012
- Pacheco Y, Acosta-Ampudia Y, Monsalve DM, Chang C, Gershwin ME, Anaya J-M (2019) Bystander activation and autoimmunity. J. Autoimmun. 103:102301. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaut.2019.06.012
- Paetzold B, Willis JR, Pereira de Lima J, ... Güell M (2019) Skin microbiome modulation induced by probiotic solutions. Microbiome 7:95. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40168-019-0709-3
- Palermo B, Campanelli R, Garbelli S, ... Giachino C (2001) Specific cytotoxic T lymphocyte responses against Melan-A/Mart1, tyrosinase and Gp100 in vitiligo by the use of major histocompatibility complex/peptide tetramers: The role of cellular immunity in the etiopathogenesis of Vitiligo. J. Invest. Dermatol. 117:326–332. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1523-1747.2001.01408.x

- Parada Venegas D, la Fuente MK De, Landskron G, … Hermoso MA (2019) Short Chain Fatty Acids (SCFAs)-Mediated Gut Epithelial and Immune Regulation and Its Relevance for Inflammatory Bowel Diseases . Front. Immunol. 10:277.
- Parimalam K, Dinesh DK, Thomas J (2015) Vitiligo delimiting dermatophyte infection. Indian J. Dermatol. 60:91–93. https://doi.org/10.4103/0019-5154.147816
- Pérez-Cabezas B, Ribeiro R, Costa I, ... Tavares J (2021) IL-2 and IFN-γ are biomarkers of SARS-CoV-2 specific cellular response in whole blood stimulation assays. medRxiv 2021.01.04.20248897. https://doi.org/10.1101/2021.01.04.20248897
- Pessemier B De, Grine L, Debaere M, Maes A, Paetzold B, Callewaert C (2021) Gut-Skin Axis: Current Knowledge of the Interrelationship between Microbial Dysbiosis and Skin Conditions. Microorganisms 9. https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms9020353
- Pittayanon R, Lau JT, Yuan Y, ... Moayyedi P (2019) Gut Microbiota in Patients With Irritable Bowel Syndrome—A Systematic Review. Gastroenterology 157:97–108. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2019.03.049
- Plaza-Rojas L, Guevara-Patiño JA (2021) The Role of NKG2D in Vitiligo . Front. Immunol. 12:417.
- Poole I Le, Luiten R (2008) Autoimmune etiology of generalized vitiligo. Curr. Dir. Autoimmun. 10:227–243. https://doi.org/10.1159/000131485
- Portales-Cervantes L, Dawod B, Marshall JS (2019) Mast Cells and Natural Killer Cells-A Potentially Critical Interaction. Viruses 11:514. https://doi.org/10.3390/v11060514
- Post NF, Luiten RM, Wolkerstorfer A, Bekkenk MW, Böhm M (2021) Does autoimmune vitiligo protect against COVID-19 disease? Exp. Dermatol. 30:1254–1257.
- Rao AG (2015) Dermatophyte infection encircling vitiligo. Indian Dermatol. Online J. 6:S60– S63. https://doi.org/10.4103/2229-5178.171056
- Rashighi M, Harris JE (2017) Vitiligo Pathogenesis and Emerging Treatments. Dermatol. Clin. 35:257–265.
- Richmond JM, Frisoli ML, Harris JE (2013) Innate immune mechanisms in vitiligo: danger from within. Curr. Opin. Immunol. 25:676–682. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coi.2013.10.010
- Richmond JM, Strassner JP, Rashighi M, ... Harris JE (2019) Resident Memory and Recirculating Memory T Cells Cooperate to Maintain Disease in a Mouse Model of Vitiligo. J. Invest. Dermatol. 139:769–778. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jid.2018.10.032

- Riding RL, Harris JE (2019) The Role of Memory CD8(+) T Cells in Vitiligo. J. Immunol. 203:11–19. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1900027
- Romani N, Thurnher M, Idoyaga J, Steinman RM, Flacher V (2010) Targeting of antigens to skin dendritic cells: possibilities to enhance vaccine efficacy. Immunol. Cell Biol. 88:424– 430. https://doi.org/10.1038/icb.2010.39
- Russler-Germain E V, Rengarajan S, Hsieh C-S (2017) Antigen-specific regulatory T-cell responses to intestinal microbiota. Mucosal Immunol. 10:1375–1386. https://doi.org/10.1038/mi.2017.65
- Sarkar R, Nayak P (2020) Novel corona virus infection: a dermatologist's perspective. Pigment Int. 7:5–11. https://doi.org/10.4103/Pigmentinternational.Pigmentinternational 35 20
- Saunders CW, Scheynius A, Heitman J (2012) Malassezia fungi are specialized to live on skin and associated with dandruff, eczema, and other skin diseases. PLoS Pathog. 8:e1002701– e1002701. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1002701
- Schmitz J, Zimmer JP, Kluxen B, ... Schmitz H (1995) Antibody-dependent complementmediated cytotoxicity in sera from patients with HIV-1 infection is controlled by CD55 and CD59. J. Clin. Invest. 96:1520–1526. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI118190
- Secher T, Kassem S, Benamar M, ... Saoudi A (2017) Oral administration of the probiotic strain Escherichia coli Nissle 1917 reduces susceptibility to neuroinflammation and repairs experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis-induced intestinal barrier dysfunction. Front. Immunol. 8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2017.01096
- Shah F, Patel S, Begum R, Dwivedi M (2021) Emerging role of Tissue Resident Memory T cells in vitiligo: From pathogenesis to therapeutics. Autoimmun. Rev. 20. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.AUTREV.2021.102868
- Sharma M, Li Y, Stoll ML, Tollefsbol TO (2020) The Epigenetic Connection Between the Gut Microbiome in Obesity and Diabetes. Front. Genet. 10:1329. https://doi.org/10.3389/fgene.2019.01329
- Singh M, Mansuri MS, Kadam A, ... Begum R (2021) Tumor Necrosis Factor-alpha affects melanocyte survival and melanin synthesis via multiple pathways in vitiligo. Cytokine 140. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cyto.2021.155432
- Smatti MK, Cyprian FS, Nasrallah GK, Thani AA Al, Almishal RO, Yassine HM (2019)

Viruses and Autoimmunity: A Review on the Potential Interaction and Molecular Mechanisms. Viruses 11:762. https://doi.org/10.3390/v11080762

- So J-S, Kwon H-K, Lee C-G, ... Im S-H (2008) Lactobacillus casei suppresses experimental arthritis by down-regulating T helper 1 effector functions. Mol. Immunol. 45:2690–2699. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molimm.2007.12.010
- Stehlikova Z, Kostovcikova K, Kverka M, ... Jiraskova Zakostelska Z (2019) Crucial Role of Microbiota in Experimental Psoriasis Revealed by a Gnotobiotic Mouse Model. Front. Microbiol. 10:236. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2019.00236
- Stockwin LH, McGonagle D, Martin IG, Blair GE (2000) Dendritic cells: immunological sentinels with a central role in health and disease. Immunol. Cell Biol. 78:91–102. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1440-1711.2000.00888.x
- Sun S, Luo L, Liang W, ... Wang F (2020) Bifidobacterium alters the gut microbiota and modulates the functional metabolism of T regulatory cells in the context of immune checkpoint blockade. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 117:27509–27515. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1921223117
- Tembhre MK, Sharma VK, Sharma A, Chattopadhyay P, Gupta S (2013) T helper and regulatory T cell cytokine profile in active, stable and narrow band ultraviolet B treated generalized vitiligo. Clin. Chim. Acta 424:27–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cca.2013.05.005
- Tembhre MK, Parihar AS, Sharma VK, Sharma A, Chattopadhyay P, Gupta S (2015) Alteration in regulatory T cells and programmed cell death 1-expressing regulatory T cells in active generalized vitiligo and their clinical correlation. Br. J. Dermatol. 172:940–950. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjd.13511
- Tracy LE, Minasian RA, Caterson EJ (2016) Extracellular Matrix and Dermal Fibroblast Function in the Healing Wound. Adv. wound care 5:119–136. https://doi.org/10.1089/wound.2014.0561
- Tulic MK, Cavazza E, Cheli Y, ... Passeron T (2019) Innate lymphocyte-induced CXCR3Bmediated melanocyte apoptosis is a potential initiator of T-cell autoreactivity in vitiligo. Nat. Commun. 10:2178. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-09963-8
- Tzang BS, Liu CH, Hsu KC, Chen YH, Huang CY, Hsu TC (2017) Effects of oral Lactobacillus administration on antioxidant activities and CD4+CD25+forkhead box P3 (FoxP3)+ T

cells in NZB/W F1 mice. Br. J. Nutr. 118:333–342. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0007114517002112

- Valle DM Del, Kim-Schulze S, Huang H-H, ... Gnjatic S (2020) An inflammatory cytokine signature predicts COVID-19 severity and survival. Nat. Med. 26:1636–1643. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-020-1051-9
- Vieira SM, Pagovich OE, Kriegel MA (2014) Diet, microbiota and autoimmune diseases. Lupus 23:518–526. https://doi.org/10.1177/0961203313501401
- Vulevic J, Drakoularakou A, Yaqoob P, Tzortzis G, Gibson GR (2008) Modulation of the fecal microflora profile and immune function by a novel trans-galactooligosaccharide mixture (B-GOS) in healthy elderly volunteers. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 88:1438–1446. https://doi.org/10.3945/ajcn.2008.26242
- Wang CQF, Cruz-Inigo AE, Fuentes-Duculan J, ... Krueger JG (2011) Th17 cells and activated dendritic cells are increased in vitiligo lesions. PLoS One 6:e18907–e18907. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0018907
- Waterman EA, Kemp EH, Gawkrodger DJ, Watson PF, Weetman AP (2002) Autoantibodies in vitiligo patients are not directed to the melanocyte differentiation antigen MelanA/MART1. Clin. Exp. Immunol. 129:527–532. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2249.2002.01949.x
- Webb KC, Tung R, Winterfield LS, ... Poole IC Le (2015) Tumour necrosis factor-α inhibition can stabilize disease in progressive vitiligo. Br. J. Dermatol. 173:641–650.
- Wei SH, Chen YP, Chen MJ (2015) Selecting probiotics with the abilities of enhancing GLP-1 to mitigate the progression of type 1 diabetes in vitro and in vivo. J. Funct. Foods 18:473–486. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jff.2015.08.016
- Whorwell PJ, Altringer L, Morel J, ... Quigley EMM (2006) Efficacy of an encapsulated probiotic Bifidobacterium infantis 35624 in women with irritable bowel syndrome. Am. J. Gastroenterol. 101:1581–1590. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1572-0241.2006.00734.x
- Willemsen M, Post NF, Uden NOP van, ... Luiten RM (2021) Immunophenotypic Analysis Reveals Differences in Circulating Immune Cells in the Peripheral Blood of Patients with Segmental and Nonsegmental Vitiligo. J. Invest. Dermatol. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jid.2021.05.022

Wu HJ, Wu E (2012) The role of gut microbiota in immune homeostasis and autoimmunity.

Gut Microbes 3:4.

- Wu J, Zhou M, Wan Y, Xu A (2013) CD8+ T cells from vitiligo perilesional margins induce autologous melanocyte apoptosis. Mol. Med. Rep. 7:237–241. https://doi.org/10.3892/mmr.2012.1117
- Xiao S, Jin H, Korn T, ... Kuchroo VK (2008) Retinoic acid increases Foxp3+ regulatory T cells and inhibits development of Th17 cells by enhancing TGF-beta-driven Smad3 signaling and inhibiting IL-6 and IL-23 receptor expression. J. Immunol. 181:2277–2284. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.181.4.2277
- Xiao L, Van't Land B, Engen PA, ... Folkerts G (2018) Human milk oligosaccharides protect against the development of autoimmune diabetes in NOD-mice. Sci. Rep. 8. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-22052-y
- Xu X, Zhang C, Jiang M, Xiang LF (2021) Impact of treatment delays on vitiligo during the COVID-19 pandemic: A retrospective study. Dermatol. Ther. 34:e15014. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/dth.15014
- Yeh Y-L, Lu M-C, Tsai BC-K, ... Huang C-Y (2020) Heat-Killed Lactobacillus reuteri GMNL-263 Inhibits Systemic Lupus Erythematosus-Induced Cardiomyopathy in NZB/W F1 Mice. Probiotics Antimicrob. Proteins. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12602-020-09668-1
- You S, Cho YH, Byun JS, Shin EC (2013) Melanocyte-specific CD8+ T cells are associated with epidermal depigmentation in a novel mouse model of vitiligo. Clin. Exp. Immunol. 174:38–44. https://doi.org/10.1111/cei.12146
- Yousef H, Alhajj M, Sharma S (2021) Anatomy, Skin (Integument), Epidermis. StatPearls.
- Yu R, Broady R, Huang Y, ... Zhou Y (2012) Transcriptome Analysis Reveals Markers of Aberrantly Activated Innate Immunity in Vitiligo Lesional and Non-Lesional Skin. PLoS One 7:e51040.
- Yu J, Luo Y, Zhu Z, ... Li W (2019) A tryptophan metabolite of the skin microbiota attenuates inflammation in patients with atopic dermatitis through the aryl hydrocarbon receptor. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 143:2108-2119.e12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2018.11.036
- Zhang Y, Liu L, Jin L, ... Gao T (2014) Oxidative Stress–Induced Calreticulin Expression and Translocation: New Insights into the Destruction of Melanocytes. J. Invest. Dermatol. 134:183–191. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1038/jid.2013.268

Zheng D, Liwinski T, Elinav E (2020) Interaction between microbiota and immunity in health and disease. Cell Res. 30:492–506. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41422-020-0332-7